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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007
 or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the transition period from                     to

Commission File Number: 001-33294

Fortress Investment Group LLC
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
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Delaware  20-5837959 (State or other jurisdiction of
 incorporation or organization)  (I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.) 1345 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY  10105 (Address of principal executive offices) 
(Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (212) 798-6100

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

 Title
of each class:  Name of exchange on which registered: Class A shares  New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act.       Yes       No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act.       Yes       No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

   Yes       No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this form 10-K.    

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of ‘‘large accelerated filer’’, ‘‘accelerated filer’’ and ‘‘smaller reporting
company’’ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check One):

 Large
Accelerated Filer    Accelerated Filer    Non-accelerated Filer    (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) 
Smaller reporting company   
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
(Check One):       Yes       No

The aggregate market value of the Class A Shares held by non-affiliates as of June 30, 2007 (computed based on the
closing price on such date as reported on the NYSE) was $2.2 billion.

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant’s classes of common stock, as of the last practicable
date.

Class A shares: 94,597,646 outstanding as of March 24, 2008.

Class B shares: 312,071,550 outstanding as of March 24, 2008.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for the registrant’s 2008 annual meeting, to be filed within 120
days after the close of the registrant’s fiscal year, are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the context otherwise requires:

‘‘Fee Paying Assets Under Management,’’ ‘‘Management Fee Paying Assets Under Management,’’ or ‘‘MAUM,’’ refers to the
management fee paying assets we manage, including capital we have the right to call from our investors pursuant to
their capital commitments to various funds. We are highlighting MAUM, rather than total assets under management
(‘‘AUM’’), because it provides insight into our capacity to earn management fees. Our MAUM equals the sum of:

 (i)  the
capital commitments or invested capital (or NAV, if lower) of our private equity funds, depending on which measure
management fees are being calculated upon at a given point in time, which in connection with funds raised after
March 2006 includes the mark-to-market value of public securities held within the funds, 

 (ii)  the contributed
capital of our publicly traded alternative investment vehicles, which we refer to as our ‘‘Castles,’’ 

 (iii)  the net asset value,
or ‘‘NAV,’’ of our hedge funds; and 

 (iv)  the NAV of our
managed accounts, to the extent management fees are charged.

For each of the above, the amounts exclude assets under management for which we charge either no or nominal fees,
generally related to our principal investments in funds as well as investments in funds by our principals, directors and
employees.

Our calculation of MAUM may differ from the calculations of other asset managers and, as a result, this measure may
not be comparable to similar measures presented by other asset managers. Our definition of MAUM is not based on
any definition of assets under management contained in our operating agreement or in any of our Fortress Fund
management agreements.

‘‘Fortress,’’ ‘‘we,’’ ‘‘us,’’ ‘‘our,’’ and the ‘‘company’’ refer, (i) following the consummation of the reorganization and the Nomura
transaction on January 17, 2007, collectively, to Fortress Investment Group LLC and its subsidiaries, including the
Fortress Operating Group and all of its subsidiaries, and, (ii) prior to the consummation of the reorganization and the
Nomura transaction on January 17, 2007, to the Fortress Operating Group and all of its subsidiaries, in each case not
including funds that, prior to March 31, 2007, were consolidated funds, except with respect to our historical financial
statements and discussion thereof unless otherwise specified. Effective March 31, 2007, all of our previously
consolidated funds were deconsolidated. The financial statements contained herein represent consolidated financial
statements of Fortress Investment Group LLC subsequent to the reorganization and combined financial statements of
Fortress Operating Group, considered the predecessor, prior to the reorganization. See Part II, Item 8, ‘‘Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.’’

‘‘Fortress Funds’’ and ‘‘our funds’’ refers to the private investment funds and alternative asset companies that are managed
by the Fortress Operating Group.

‘‘Fortress Operating Group’’ refers to the combined entities, which were wholly-owned by the principals prior to the
Nomura transaction and in each of which Fortress Investment Group LLC acquired an indirect controlling interest
upon completion of the Nomura transaction (described below).

‘‘principals’’ or ‘‘Principals’’ refers to Peter Briger, Wesley Edens, Robert Kauffman, Randal Nardone and Michael
Novogratz, collectively, who prior to the completion of our initial public offering and the Nomura transaction directly
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owned 100% of the Fortress Operating Group units and following completion of our initial public offering and the
Nomura transaction own a majority of the Fortress Operating Group units and all of the Class B shares, representing a
majority of the total combined voting power of all of our outstanding Class A and Class B shares. The principals’
ownership percentage is subject to change based on, among other things, equity offerings by Fortress and dispositions
by the principals.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements under Part I, Item 1, ‘‘Business,’’ Part I, Item 1A, ‘‘Risk Factors,’’ Part II, Item 7, ‘‘Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,’’ Part II, Item 7A, ‘‘Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk’’ and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain
forward-looking statements which reflect our current views with respect to, among other things, future events and
financial performance. Readers can identify these forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking words
such as ‘‘outlook,’’ ‘‘believes,’’ ‘‘expects,’’ ‘‘potential,’’ ‘‘continues,’’ ‘‘may,’’ ‘‘will,’’ ‘‘should,’’ ‘‘seeks,’’ ‘‘approximately,’’ ‘‘predicts,’’ ‘‘intends,’’
‘‘plans,’’ ‘‘estimates,’’ ‘‘anticipates’’ or the negative version of those words or other comparable words. Any forward-looking
statements contained in this report are based upon the historical performance of us and our subsidiaries and on our
current plans, estimates and expectations. The inclusion of this forward-looking information should not be regarded as
a representation by us or any other person that the future plans, estimates or expectations contemplated by us will be
achieved. Such forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties and assumptions relating to
our operations, financial results, financial condition, business prospects, growth strategy and liquidity. If one or more
of these or other risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, our actual
results may vary materially from those indicated in these statements. These factors should not be construed as
exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements that are included in this report. We
do not undertake any obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of
new information, future developments or otherwise.
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PART I

Item 1.    Business.

Fortress Investment Group LLC (NYSE listed under the symbol ‘‘FIG’’) is a leading global alternative asset manager
with approximately $33.2 billion in fee paying assets under management as of December 31, 2007. We raise, invest
and manage private equity funds and hedge funds. We earn management fees based on the size of our funds, incentive
income based on the performance of our funds, and investment income from our principal investments in those funds.

Fortress was founded in 1998 as an asset-based investment management firm with a fundamental philosophy premised
on alignment of interests with the investors in our funds. Our managed funds primarily employ absolute return
strategies; we strive to have positive returns regardless of the performance of the markets. Investment performance is
our cornerstone — as an investment manager, we earn more if our investors earn more. In keeping with our fundamental
philosophy, we invest capital in each of our businesses. As of December 31, 2007, Fortress’s investments in and
commitments to our funds were $1.2 billion, consisting of the net asset value of Fortress’s principal investments of
$1.1 billion, and unfunded commitments to private equity funds of $0.1 billion.

We currently have more than 820 employees, including 323 investment professionals, at our headquarters in New
York and our affiliate offices in Atlanta, Dallas, Frankfurt, Geneva, Hong Kong, London, Los Angeles, Munich, New
Canaan, Rome, San Diego, San Francisco, Sydney, Tokyo and Toronto.

We have grown our fee paying assets under management significantly, from approximately $20.9 billion as of
December 31, 2006, to approximately $33.2 billion as of December 31, 2007, or a 59% increase. We plan to continue
to strategically grow our fee paying assets under management and will seek to generate superior risk-adjusted
investment returns in our funds over the long term. We are guided by the following key objectives and values:

 • 
generating top-tier risk-adjusted investment returns; 

 •  introducing
innovative new investment products, while remaining focused on, and continuing to grow, our existing lines of
business;  • 
maintaining our disciplined investment process and intensive asset management; and 

 •  adhering to the
highest standards of professionalism and integrity.

Our Current Businesses

We are a global investment manager specializing in alternative assets. Our current offering of alternative investment
products includes private equity funds and hedge funds. We refer to these investment products, collectively, as the
Fortress Funds. As of December 31, 2007, we managed approximately $33.2 billion of alternative assets in two core
businesses:

Private Equity Funds — a business that manages approximately $16.6 billion of MAUM comprised of two business
segments: (i) funds that primarily make significant, control-oriented investments in North America and Western
Europe, with a focus on acquiring and building asset-based businesses with significant cash flows. We also manage a
family of ‘‘long dated value’’ funds focused on investing in undervalued assets with limited current cash flows and long
investment horizons; and (ii) publicly traded alternative investment vehicles, which we refer to as ‘‘Castles,’’ that invest
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primarily in real estate and real estate related debt investments; and

Hedge Funds — a business that manages approximately $16.6 billion of MAUM comprised of two business segments:
(i) liquid hedge funds — which invest globally in fixed income, currency, equity and commodity markets and related
derivatives to capitalize on imbalances in the financial markets; and (ii) hybrid hedge funds — which make diversified
investments globally in assets, opportunistic lending situations and securities through the capital structure with a value
orientation, as well as investment funds managed by external managers.

1
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Principal Sources of Revenue

Overview

Our principal sources of revenues from the Fortress Funds consist of (i) management fees, which are typically earned
as a percentage of fee paying assets under management, (ii) incentive income, which is typically earned as a
percentage of profits, in some cases in excess of, or subject to achieving, specified thresholds, and (iii) investment
income, which represents the returns on our principal investments in the Fortress Funds.

The following table provides the management fees and incentive income, on a segment reporting basis, of each of our
core businesses for the previous three fiscal years (in thousands):

 2007 
2006  2005 Private Equity  Funds  Management Fees  $ 131,939  $ 84,279  $
46,695  Incentive Income  275,254  129,800  133,230  Castles  Management Fees  49,661 
32,544  19,463  Incentive Income  39,490  15,682  12,412  Hedge Funds  Liquid 
 Management Fees  158,882  92,746  55,978  Incentive Income  199,283  154,068  114,353  Hybrid 

 Management Fees  129,516  84,536  50,507  Incentive Income  97,465  135,939 
73,230 
Certain of our segments are comprised of, and dependent on the performance of, a limited number of Fortress Funds.
Each of these funds is material to the results of operations of its segment and the loss of any of these funds would have
a material adverse impact on the segment. Moreover, the revenues we earned from certain funds individually exceeded
10% of our total revenues on an unconsolidated basis for fiscal 2007. For additional information regarding our
segments, the information presented above, our total assets and our distributable earnings (as defined below), please
see Part II, Item 7, ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Segment
Analysis’’ and Part II, Item 8, ‘‘Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.’’

Private Equity Funds

Overview

Our private equity business is made up primarily of a series of funds named the ‘‘Fortress Investment Funds’’ and
organized to make control-oriented investments in cash flow generating, asset-based businesses in North America and
Western Europe.

Fortress Investment Funds

Investors in our private equity funds commit capital at the outset of a fund, which is then drawn down as investment
opportunities become available, generally over a one to three year investment period. Profits are returned to investors
as investments are realized, generally over eight to ten years. Management fees of 1% to 1.5% are generally charged
on committed capital during the investment period of a new fund, and then on invested capital (or NAV, if lower).
Management fees are paid to us semi-annually in advance. We also earn a 20% share of the profits on each realized
investment in a fund — our incentive income — subject to the fund’s achieving a minimum return with respect to the

2
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fund as a whole, that is, taking into account all gains and losses on all investments in the fund. In addition, we earn
investment income on our principal investments in the Fortress Investment Funds. Over their lives, the Fortress
Investment Funds seek to generate 20% annual net returns to investors and to return at least two times invested
capital.

Long Dated Value Funds

In addition to our Fortress Investment Fund family of funds, we introduced in early 2005 a pioneering private equity
fund product — the Long Dated Value family of funds — which focuses on making investments with long dated cash
flows that may be undervalued because of the lack of current cash flows or because the investment is encumbered by a
long term lease or financing, and that provide for significant capital appreciation over the long term. Over their lives,
the Long Dated Value Funds seek to generate approximately 9% to 10% annual net returns to investors. The Long
Dated Value Funds are generally similar in structure to the Fortress Investment Fund family of funds, including in
terms of fees payable to us, except that the funds have an investment life of 25 years, reflecting the funds’ investment
profiles, and incentive income is distributed to us after all of a fund’s invested capital has been returned, rather than as
each investment is realized.

Real Assets Funds

Fortress established the Real Assets Funds in 2007 to generate superior risk adjusted returns by opportunistically
investing in tangible and intangible assets with the potential to achieve significant value generally within a
three-to-ten year time horizon. The investment program of these funds will focus on direct investments in four
principal investment categories — real estate, capital assets, natural resources and intellectual property — but are also
expected to include indirect investments in the form of interests in real estate investment trusts (‘‘REITs’’), master
limited partnerships, corporate securities, debt securities and debt obligations — including those that provide equity
upside — as well as options, royalties, residuals and other call rights that provide these funds with the potential for
significant capital appreciation. The investments will be located primarily in North America and Western Europe, but
may also include opportunities in Australia, Asia and elsewhere on an opportunistic basis.

Credit Opportunities Funds

Fortress established the Fortress Credit Opportunities Funds in 2008 to make opportunistic credit-related investments.
Their investment objective is to generate significant current income and long-term capital appreciation through
investments in a range of distressed and undervalued credit investments, including but not limited to residential loans
and securities, commercial mortgage loans and securities, opportunistic corporate loans and securities, and other
consumer or commercial assets and asset-backed securities.

Castles

We manage two publicly traded companies: Newcastle Investment Corp. (NYSE: NCT) and Eurocastle Investment
Limited (Euronext Amsterdam: ECT), which we call our ‘‘Castles.’’ The Castles were raised with broad investment
mandates to make investments in a wide variety of real estate related assets, including securities, loans and real estate
properties. The companies have no employees; we provide each company with a management team pursuant to
management agreements entered into with each company. Pursuant to our management agreements, we earn
management fees from each Castle equal to 1.5% of the company’s equity. In addition, we earn incentive income equal
to 25% of the company’s funds from operations (or ‘‘FFO,’’ which is the real estate industry’s supplemental measure of
operating performance) in excess of specified returns to the company’s shareholders. In addition to these fees, we also
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receive from the Castles, for services provided, options to purchase shares of their common stock in connection with
each of their common stock offerings. These options are vested immediately, become exercisable over thirty months,
and have an exercise price equal to the applicable offering price.
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Hedge Funds

Overview

Our hedge fund business focuses on absolute returns and is comprised of two business segments: hybrid hedge funds
and liquid hedge funds.

Liquid Hedge Funds

The liquid hedge funds, which invest daily in markets around the globe, seek to exploit opportunities in global
currency, interest rate, equity and commodity markets and their related derivatives. Risk management is the
cornerstone of the investment process, and the funds invest with a focus on preservation of capital. Investment
opportunities are evaluated and rated on a thematic and an individual basis to determine appropriate risk-reward and
capital allocations.

Drawbridge Global Macro Funds

The Drawbridge Global Macro Funds seek to generate 15% to 20% annual net returns to investors. The funds apply an
investment process based on macroeconomic fundamental, market momentum and technical analyses to identify
strategies offering a favorable risk-return profile. The funds’ investment strategies are premised on the belief that
imbalances in various financial markets are created from time to time by the influence of economic, political and
capital flow factors. Directional and relative value strategies are applied to exploit these conditions. The funds have
the flexibility to allocate capital dynamically across a wide range of global strategies, markets and instruments as
opportunities change, and are designed to take advantage of a wide variety of sources of market, economic and pricing
data to generate trading ideas.

The funds invest primarily in major developed markets; however, they also invest in emerging markets if market
conditions present opportunities for attractive returns. While the funds pursue primarily global macro directional and
relative value strategies, capital is allocated within the funds to particular strategies to provide incremental returns and
diversity.

Management fees are charged based on the MAUM of the Drawbridge Global Macro Funds at a rate equal to 2% or
3% annually, payable quarterly in advance, depending on the investment and liquidity terms elected by investors. We
earn incentive income of either 20% or 25% of the fund’s profits, payable quarterly, depending on the investment and
liquidity terms elected by investors. Investors in the Drawbridge Global Macro Funds may invest with the right to
redeem without paying any redemption fee either quarterly, or annually after three years. However, unless a
redemption fee is paid to the funds, full redemption by investors with quarterly liquidity takes a year, as the amount
redeemed each quarter is limited to 25% of the investor’s holding in the funds. Similarly, some investors with
three-year liquidity may redeem annually before three years, subject to an early redemption fee payable to the funds.

Commodities Fund

This fund’s principal investment objective is to seek a superior total return on its assets by executing a directional
investment strategy in the global commodity and equity markets. This fund was established in 2007 and seeks to
identify optimal risk-adjusted strategies by assessing opportunities along various points of the relevant commodity and
equity supply chains. This fund expects to invest across multiple sectors within the commodity asset class ranging
from energy to metals to agriculture and within the cyclical, industrial, and commodity equity universe.
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Hybrid Hedge Funds

Our hybrid hedge funds are designed to exploit pricing anomalies that exist between the public and private finance
markets. These investment opportunities are often found outside the traditionally broker-dealer mediated channels in
which investments that are efficiently priced and intermediated by large financial institutions are typically presented to
the private investment fund community. We have developed a proprietary network comprised of internal and external
resources to exclusively source transactions for the funds.
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The funds are able to invest in a wide array of financial instruments, ranging from assets, opportunistic lending
situations and securities throughout the capital structure with a value orientation. All of these investments are based on
fundamental bottom up analysis and are typically event driven. The funds’ diverse and idiosyncratic investments
require significant infrastructure and asset management experience to fully realize value. We have developed a
substantial asset management infrastructure with expertise in managing the funds’ investments in order to be able to
maximize the net present value of investments on a monthly basis. Our endowment strategy funds are designed to
blend this direct bottom up investing style with third party managers to create excellent risk adjusted returns with an
emphasis on capital preservation.

Drawbridge Special Opportunities Funds

The Drawbridge Special Opportunities Funds form the core of our hybrid hedge fund investing strategy. The
Drawbridge Special Opportunities Funds seek to generate annual net returns to investors equal to the risk free interest
rate plus 5% to 10%, by making investments that are generally expected to be liquidated or realized within five years.
The funds opportunistically acquire a diversified portfolio of investments primarily throughout the United States,
Western Europe and the Pacific region. The funds’ investment program incorporates three complementary investment
strategies, focusing on asset-based transactions, loans and corporate securities. The majority of the funds’ investments
are relatively illiquid, and the funds generally make investments that are expected to liquidate or be realized within a
five year period.

Management fees are charged based on the MAUM of the Drawbridge Special Opportunities Funds at a rate equal to
2% annually, payable quarterly in advance. We generally earn incentive income of 20% of the fund’s profits, payable
annually. Investors in the Drawbridge Special Opportunities Funds may redeem annually on December 31. Because of
the illiquid nature of the funds’ investments, rather than receiving redemption proceeds immediately, redeeming
investors may have to receive their redemption proceeds as and when the particular investments held by the fund at
the time of redemption are realized.

Fortress Partners Funds

The Fortress Partners Funds were launched in July 2006. The Fortress Partners Funds seek to generate annual net
returns to investors that are at least equal on a long term basis to returns of large capitalization equity indices, with
lower risk when measured over a full market cycle. The funds invest with a broad mandate, similar to endowment
portfolios of large universities. Investments are made both in Fortress Funds and in funds managed by other managers,
and in direct investments that are sourced either by Fortress personnel or by third party fund managers with whom we
have relationships.

Competition

The investment management industry is intensely competitive, and we expect the competition to intensify in the
future. We face competition in the pursuit of outside investors for our investment funds, acquiring investments in
attractive portfolio companies and making other investments. Depending on the investment, we expect to face
competition primarily from other investment management firms, private equity funds, hedge funds, other financial
institutions, corporate buyers and other parties. Many of our competitors are substantially larger and may have greater
financial and technical resources than we possess. In addition, several of our competitors have recently raised, or are
expected to raise, significant amounts of capital, and many of them have investment objectives similar to our
objectives, which may create competitive disadvantages for us with respect to certain types of investment
opportunities. Some of these competitors may have higher risk tolerances, make different risk assessments or have
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lower return thresholds, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments or bid more aggressively
than we bid for investments that we want to make. Corporate buyers may be able to achieve synergistic cost savings
with regard to an investment that may provide them with a competitive advantage relative to us when bidding for an
investment.
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Moreover, the allocation of increasing amounts of capital to alternative investment strategies by institutional and
individual investors could lead to a reduction in the size and duration of pricing inefficiencies that many of our
investment funds seek to exploit. Lastly, the market for qualified investment professionals is intensely competitive.
Our ability to continue to compete effectively will depend upon our ability to attract, retain and motivate our
employees.

Where Readers Can Find Additional Information

Fortress files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information required by the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ‘‘Exchange Act’’), with the Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC’’).
Readers may read and copy any document that Fortress files at the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 100 F
Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, U.S.A. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the
Public Reference Room. Our SEC filings are also available to the public from the SEC’s internet site at
http://www.sec.gov. Copies of these reports, proxy statements and other information can also be inspected at the
offices of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005, U.S.A.

Our internet site is http://www.fortress.com. We will make available free of charge through our internet site our
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and
Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed on behalf of directors and executive officers and any amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material
with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Also posted on our website in the ‘‘Investor Relations — Governance Documents’’ section
are charters for the company’s Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating, Corporate Governance
and Conflicts Committee as well as our Corporate Governance Guidelines and our Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics governing our directors, officers and employees. Information on, or accessible through, our website is not a part
of, and is not incorporated into, this report.

Item 1A.    Risk Factors

We face a variety of significant and diverse risks, many of which are inherent in our business. Described below are
certain risks that we currently believe could materially affect us. Other risks and uncertainties that we do not presently
consider to be material or of which we are not presently aware may become important factors that affect us in the
future. The occurrence of any of the risks discussed below could materially and adversely affect our business,
prospects, financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.

Risks Related To Our Business

We depend on Messrs. Briger, Edens, Kauffman, Nardone and Novogratz, and the loss of any of their services would
have a material adverse effect on us.

The success of our business depends on the efforts, judgment and personal reputations of our principals, Peter Briger,
Wesley Edens, Robert Kauffman, Randal Nardone and Michael Novogratz. Our principals’ reputations, expertise in
investing, relationships with our investors and relationships with members of the business community on whom our
funds depend for investment opportunities and financing, are each critical elements in operating and expanding our
businesses. We believe our performance is strongly correlated to the performance of these individuals. Accordingly,
the retention of our principals is crucial to our success. In addition, if any of our principals were to join or form a
competitor, some of our investors could choose to invest with that competitor rather than in our funds. The loss of the
services of any of our principals would have a material adverse effect on us, including our ability to retain and attract
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investors and raise new funds, and the performance of our funds. Two or more of our principals occasionally fly
together, which concentrates the potential impact of an accident on our company. We do not carry any ‘‘key man’’
insurance that would provide us with proceeds in the event of the death or disability of any of our principals.
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Each of our principals has entered into an employment agreement with us. The initial term of these agreements is five
years from the date of our initial public offering in February 2007, with automatic one-year renewals until a
non-renewal notice is given by us or the principal. If a principal terminates his employment voluntarily or we
terminate his employment for cause (as defined in the agreement), the principal will be subject to eighteen-month
post-employment covenants requiring him not to compete with us. However, if we terminate a principal’s employment
without cause, the principal will not be subject to the non-competition provisions.

The principals have also entered into an agreement among themselves, which provides that, in the event a principal
voluntarily terminates his employment with us for any reason prior to the fifth anniversary of the consummation of
our initial public offering, the principal may be required to forfeit a portion of his Fortress Operating Group units (and
the corresponding Class B shares) to the other principals who continue to be employed by the Fortress Operating
Group. However, this agreement may be amended by the principals who are then employed by the Fortress Operating
Group. We, our shareholders and the Fortress Operating Group have no ability to enforce any provision of this
agreement or to prevent the principals from amending the agreement or waiving any of its obligations.

There is no guarantee that our principals will not resign, join our competitors or form a competing company, or that
the non-competition provisions in the employment agreements would be upheld by a court. If any of these events were
to occur, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operation would be materially adversely affected.

Several of our funds have ‘‘key man’’ provisions pursuant to which the failure of one or more of our principals to be
actively involved in the business provides investors with the right to redeem from the funds or otherwise limits our
rights to manage the funds. The loss of the services of any one of Messrs. Briger, Edens or Novogratz, or both of
Mr. Kauffman and Mr. Nardone, would have a material adverse effect on certain of our funds and on us.

Investors in most of our hedge funds may generally redeem their investment without paying redemption fees if the
relevant principal ceases to perform his functions with respect to the fund for 90 consecutive days. In addition, the
terms of certain of our hedge funds’ financing arrangements contain ‘‘key man’’ provisions, which may result, under
certain circumstances, in the acceleration of such funds’ debt or the inability to continue funding certain investments if
the relevant principal ceases to perform his functions with respect to the fund and a replacement has not been
approved.

The loss or inability of Mr. Novogratz to perform his services for 90 days could result in substantial withdrawal
requests from investors in our Drawbridge Global Macro funds (which as of December 31, 2007, had MAUM of
approximately $8.1 billion) and, in the event that a replacement is not approved, the termination of a substantial
portion of the funds’ financing arrangements. Such withdrawals and terminations would have a material adverse effect
on the Drawbridge Global Macro funds by reducing our management fees from those funds and, since the funds
would have fewer assets, such withdrawals would reduce the amount of incentive income potential of those funds.
Further, such withdrawals and terminations could lead possibly to the liquidation of the funds and a corresponding
elimination of our management fees and potential to earn incentive income from those funds. The loss of
Mr. Novogratz could, therefore, ultimately result in a loss of substantially all of our earnings attributable to our liquid
hedge fund business segment.

The loss or inability of Mr. Briger to perform his services for 90 days could result in substantial withdrawal requests
from investors in our Drawbridge Special Opportunities funds (which as of December 31, 2007, had MAUM of
approximately $6.8 billion) and, in the event that a replacement for him is not approved, the termination of a
substantial portion of the funds’ financing arrangements. Such withdrawals and terminations would have a material
adverse effect on the Drawbridge Special Opportunities funds by reducing our management fees from those funds and,
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those funds. Further, such withdrawals and terminations could lead possibly to the eventual liquidation of the funds
and a corresponding elimination of our management fees and potential to earn incentive income from those funds. The
loss or inability of Mr. Briger to perform his services or devote an
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appropriate portion of his business time to the long dated value funds for 90 days would (unless approved by a
majority of fund investors) prevent the Drawbridge long dated value funds from making additional investments. This
could have a material adverse effect on the long dated value funds, resulting in us receiving reduced management fees
and incentive income. The loss of Mr. Briger could, therefore, ultimately result in a loss of substantially all of our
earnings attributable to our hybrid hedge fund business segment with respect to the Drawbridge Special Opportunities
funds, and a relatively small loss of earnings attributable to our private equity fund business segment with respect to
the long dated value funds.

If either Mr. Edens or both of Mr. Kauffman and Mr. Nardone cease to devote certain minimum portions of their
business time to the affairs of certain of our private equity funds, the funds will not be permitted to make further
investments, and then-existing investments may be liquidated if investors vote to do so. Our ability to earn
management fees and realize incentive income from our private equity funds therefore would be adversely affected if
we cannot make further investments or if we are required to liquidate fund investments at a time when market
conditions result in our obtaining less for investments than could be obtained at later times. In addition, we may be
unable to raise additional private equity funds if existing private equity fund key-man provisions are triggered. The
loss of either Mr. Edens or both of Mr. Kauffman and Mr. Nardone could, therefore, ultimately result in a loss of
substantially all of our earnings attributable to our private equity funds, which as of December 31, 2007, had MAUM
of approximately $16.6 billion.

Any such events would have a direct material adverse effect on our revenues and earnings, and would likely harm our
ability to maintain or grow fee paying assets under management in existing funds or raise additional funds in the
future.

Our ability to retain our managing directors is critical to our success and our ability to grow depends on our ability to
attract additional key personnel.

Our success depends on our ability to retain our managing directors and the other members of our investment
management team and recruit additional qualified personnel. We collectively refer to these key employees (other than
our principals) as our investment professionals. We anticipate that it will be necessary for us to add investment
professionals as we pursue our growth strategy. However, we may not succeed in recruiting additional personnel or
retaining current personnel, as the market for qualified investment professionals is extremely competitive. Our
investment professionals possess substantial experience and expertise in investing, are responsible for locating and
executing our funds’ investments, have significant relationships with the institutions which are the source of many of
our funds’ investment opportunities, and in certain cases have strong relationships with our investors. Therefore, if our
investment professionals join competitors or form competing companies it could result in the loss of significant
investment opportunities and certain existing investors. As a result, the loss of even a small number of our investment
professionals could jeopardize the performance of our funds, which could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations as well as our ability to retain and attract investors and raise new funds. Also, while we have
non-competition and non-solicitation agreements with certain investment professionals, there is no guarantee that the
agreements to which our investment professionals are subject, together with our other arrangements with them, will
prevent them from leaving us, joining our competitors or otherwise competing with us or that these agreements will be
enforceable in all cases. In addition, these agreements will expire after a certain period of time, at which point each of
our investment professionals would be free to compete against us and solicit investors in our funds, clients and
employees.

Efforts to retain or attract investment professionals may result in significant additional expenses, which could
adversely affect our profitability, and changes in law could hamper our recruitment and retention efforts. For example,
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extent or with the same tax consequences as our existing investment professionals. Therefore, in order to recruit and
retain existing and future investment professionals, we may need to increase the level of compensation that we pay to
them. Accordingly, as we promote or hire new investment professionals over time, we may increase the level of
compensation we pay to our investment professionals, which would cause our total employee
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compensation and benefits expense as a percentage of our total revenue to increase and adversely affect our
profitability. Also, if legislation were to be enacted by the U.S. Congress to treat carried interest as ordinary income
rather than as capital gain for U.S. federal income tax purposes, such legislation would materially increase the amount
of taxes that we and possibly our equityholders would be required to pay, thereby adversely affecting our ability to
recruit, retain and motivate our current and future professionals. See ‘‘— Our structure involves complex provisions of
U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority may be available. Our structure also is subject to
potential legislative, judicial or administrative change and differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis.’’
Lastly, issuance of certain equity interests in our business to future investment professionals would dilute Class A
shareholders.

We have experienced rapid growth, which may be difficult to sustain and which may place significant demands on our
administrative, operational and financial resources.

Our fee paying assets under management have grown from approximately $20.9 billion as of December 31, 2006 to
$33.2 billion as of December 31, 2007. Our rapid growth has caused, and if it continues will continue to cause,
significant demands on our legal, accounting and operational infrastructure, and increased expenses. The complexity
of these demands, and the expense required to address them, is a function not simply of the amount by which our fee
paying assets under management have grown, but of significant differences in the investing strategies of our different
funds. In addition, we are required to continuously develop our systems and infrastructure in response to the
increasing sophistication of the investment management market and legal, accounting and regulatory developments.
Moreover, the strains upon our resources caused by our growth are compounded by the additional demands imposed
upon us now that we are a public company with shares listed on the New York Stock Exchange and, thus, subject to
an extensive body of regulations that did not apply to us prior to our initial public offering.

Our future growth will depend, among other things, on our ability to maintain an operating platform and management
system sufficient to address our growth and will require us to incur significant additional expenses and to commit
additional senior management and operational resources. As a result, we face significant challenges:

 •  in
maintaining adequate accounting, financial, compliance, trading and other business controls, 

 •  implementing new
or updated information, financial and disclosure systems and procedures, and 

 •  in recruiting,
training, managing and appropriately sizing our work force and other components of our business on a timely and
cost-effective basis.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our expanding operations effectively or that we will be able
to continue to grow, and any failure to do so could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and control our
expenses.

Operational risks may disrupt our businesses, result in losses or limit our growth.

We face operational risk from errors made in the execution, confirmation or settlement of transactions. We also face
operational risk from transactions not being properly recorded, evaluated or accounted for in our funds. In particular,
our liquid and hybrid hedge fund businesses are highly dependent on our ability to process and evaluate, on a daily
basis, transactions across markets and geographies in a time-sensitive, efficient and accurate manner. Consequently,
we rely heavily on our financial, accounting and other data processing systems. In addition, new investment products
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adequate to identify or control the relevant risks in the investment strategies employed by such new investment
products. If any of these systems do not operate properly or are disabled, we could suffer financial loss, a disruption of
our businesses, liability to our funds, regulatory intervention and reputational damage.
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In addition, we operate in an industry that is highly dependent on its information systems and technology. We believe
that we have designed, purchased and installed high-quality information systems to support our business. There can be
no assurance, however, that our information systems and technology will continue to be able to accommodate our
growth, or that the cost of maintaining such systems will not increase from its current level. Such a failure to
accommodate growth, or an increase in costs related to such information systems, could have a material adverse effect
on us.

Furthermore, we depend on our headquarters, which is located in New York City, for the operation of our business. A
disaster or a disruption in the infrastructure that supports our businesses, including a disruption involving electronic
communications or other services used by us or third parties with whom we conduct business, or directly affecting our
headquarters, may have an adverse impact on our ability to continue to operate our business without interruption,
which could have a material adverse effect on us. Although we have disaster recovery programs in place, there can be
no assurance that these will be sufficient to mitigate the harm that may result from such a disaster or disruption. In
addition, insurance and other safeguards might only partially reimburse us for our losses.

Finally, we rely on third party service providers for certain aspects of our business, including certain financial
operations of our hedge funds. Any interruption or deterioration in the performance of these third parties could impair
the quality of the funds’ operations and could impact our reputation and adversely affect our business and limit our
ability to grow.

The historical and unaudited pro forma financial information included in this report is not necessarily indicative of our
future performance.

The historical combined financial information through March 31, 2007, included in this report is not necessarily
indicative of our future financial results. Such historical combined financial information consolidated a large number
of our significant funds, which were not consolidated after that date as a result of the consummation of the
deconsolidation of such funds on March 31, 2007. In addition, such historical combined financial information
included in this report does not reflect the added costs that we now incur as a public company or the impact of
changes in our structure that we implemented immediately after the consummation of our initial public offering in
February 2007, for periods prior to that date. Moreover, because we operated through limited liability companies prior
to our initial public offering, we paid little or no taxes on profits. However, we are now subject to certain taxation on
our profits as a result of the changes we made to our structure in connection with our initial public offering.

The results of future periods are likely to be materially different as a result of:

 •  the impact
of transactions occurring in connection with our initial public offering in relation to the size of the company during
earlier periods; 

 •  fund performance in
the future which differs from the historical performance reflected in our financial information for earlier periods; and

 •  the pace
of growth of our business in the future, including the formation of new funds, which differs from the historical growth
reflected in our financial information for earlier periods.

Accordingly, our historical combined financial information is not intended to be, and should not be regarded as,
indicative of our future performance.
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In addition, we have provided in this report pro forma financial information regarding the impact of the
deconsolidation of a number of Fortress Funds, which took place on March 31, 2007, on our historical combined
financial information as of December 31, 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2007. The pro forma
adjustments, which are based on available information and certain assumptions that we believe are reasonable, have
been applied to this historical combined financial information. The pro forma financial information is provided for
informational purposes only and does not purport to represent or be indicative of the results that actually would have
been obtained had the deconsolidation occurred on December 31, 2006 or January 1, 2007, or that may be obtained for
any future period. See Note 13 to Part II, Item 8, ‘‘Financial Statements — Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited).’’
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We derive a substantial portion of our revenues from funds managed pursuant to management agreements that may be
terminated or fund partnership agreements that permit investors to request liquidation of investments in our funds on
short notice.

The terms of our funds generally give either the general partner of the fund or the fund’s board of directors the right to
terminate our investment management agreement with the fund. However, insofar as we control the general partner of
our funds which are limited partnerships, the risk of termination of investment management agreement for such funds
is limited, subject to our fiduciary or contractual duties as general partner. This risk is more significant for our
offshore hedge funds where we do not serve as the general partner, which represent a significant portion of our hedge
fund MAUM.

With respect to our private equity funds formed as registered investment companies, each fund’s investment
management agreement must be approved annually by the independent members of such fund’s board of directors and,
in certain cases, by its members, as required by law. Termination of these agreements would reduce the fees we earn
from the relevant funds, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

In addition, following the deconsolidation, investors in any private equity fund and certain hedge funds have the
ability to act, without cause, to accelerate the date on which the fund must be wound down. Our ability to realize
incentive income from such funds therefore would be adversely affected if we are required to liquidate fund
investments at a time when market conditions result in our obtaining less for investments than could be obtained at
later times.

In addition, management agreements of our funds that are registered investment companies under the Investment
Company Act of 1940 would terminate if we were to experience a change of control without obtaining investor
consent. Such a change of control could be deemed to occur in the event our principals exchange enough of their
interests in the Fortress Operating Group into our Class A shares such that our principals no longer own a controlling
interest in us. We cannot be certain that consents required for the assignment of our investment management
agreements will be obtained if such a deemed change of control occurs. In addition, the board of directors of certain
hedge funds have the right under certain circumstances to terminate the investment management agreements with the
applicable fund. Termination of these agreements would affect the fees we earn from the relevant funds, which could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We are subject to third-party litigation risk that could result in significant liabilities and reputational harm, which
could materially adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

In general, we will be exposed to risk of litigation by our investors if our management of any fund is alleged to
constitute gross negligence or willful misconduct. Investors could sue us to recover amounts lost by our funds due to
our alleged misconduct, up to the entire amount of loss. Further, we may be subject to litigation arising from investor
dissatisfaction with the performance of our funds or from allegations that we improperly exercised control or
influence over companies in which our funds have large investments. By way of example, we, our funds and certain of
our employees, are each exposed to the risks of litigation relating to investment activities in our funds and actions
taken by the officers and directors (some of whom may be Fortress employees) of portfolio companies, such as risks
relating to a funds’ high-yield lending activities and the risk of shareholder litigation by other shareholders of public
companies in which our funds have large investments. In addition, we are exposed to risks of litigation or
investigation relating to transactions which presented conflicts of interest that were not properly addressed. In such
actions we would be obligated to bear legal, settlement and other costs (which may be in excess of available insurance
coverage). In addition, although we are indemnified by the funds we manage, our rights to indemnification may be
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In our liquid hedge funds, we are exposed to the risk of litigation if the funds suffer catastrophic losses due to the
failure of a particular investment strategy or due to the trading activity of an employee who has violated market rules
and regulations. Any litigation arising in such circumstances is likely to be protracted, expensive and surrounded by
circumstances which are materially damaging to our reputation and our business. In addition, we face the risk of
litigation from investors in our private equity funds and hybrid hedge funds if we violate restrictions in such funds’
organizational documents (for example, by failing to seek approval for related party transactions requiring approval or
by exceeding the mandate of such funds).

Our liquid hedge funds, our offshore hybrid hedge fund and many of our private equity funds are incorporated or
formed under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Cayman Islands laws, particularly with respect to shareholders rights,
partner rights and bankruptcy, may differ from the laws of the United States. Cayman Islands laws could change,
possibly to the detriment of our funds and investment management subsidiaries.

Also, as a public company, we are subject to the risk of investigation or litigation by regulators or our public
shareholders arising from an array of possible claims, including investor dissatisfaction with the performance of our
businesses or our share price, allegations of misconduct by our officers and directors or claims that we have
inappropriately dealt with conflicts of interest or investment allocations. It is also possible that the public company
may be brought into a lawsuit involving any of the fund-related litigation risks described above. As with the funds,
while the public company maintains insurance, there can be no assurance that its insurance will prove to be adequate.
If the public company is required to incur all or a portion of the costs arising out of litigation or investigations, our
results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Furthermore, any such litigation or investigation could be
protracted, expensive and highly damaging to the public company’s reputation, even if the underlying claims are
without merit. In addition, we may participate in transactions that involve litigation (including the enforcement of
property rights) from time to time, and such transactions may expose us to reputational risk and increased risk from
countersuits.

In addition, with a workforce consisting of many very highly paid investment professionals, we face the risk of
lawsuits relating to claims for compensation, which may individually or in the aggregate be significant in amount. The
cost of settling such claims could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our reputation, business and operations could be adversely affected by regulatory compliance failures, the potential
adverse effect of changes in laws and regulations applicable to our business and effects of negative publicity
surrounding the alternative asset management industry in general.

Potential regulatory action poses a significant risk to our reputation and thereby to our business. Our business is
subject to extensive regulation in the United States and in the other countries in which our investment activities occur.
The Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, oversees our activities as a registered investment adviser under the
Investment Advisers Act of 1940. In addition, we are subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act of
1940, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and various other statutes. We are subject to regulation by the Department
of Labor under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 or ERISA. We and our Castles, as public
companies, are subject to applicable stock exchange regulations, and both we and Newcastle are subject to the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. A number of our investing activities, such as our lending business, are subject to
regulation by various U.S. state regulators. In the United Kingdom, we are subject to regulation by the U.K. Financial
Services Authority. Our other European operations, and our investment activities around the globe, are subject to a
variety of regulatory regimes that vary country by country.
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services, including the authority to grant, and in specific circumstances to cancel, permissions to carry on particular
businesses. A failure to comply with the obligations imposed by the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 on investment
advisers, including record-keeping, advertising and operating requirements, disclosure obligations and prohibitions on
fraudulent activities, or by the
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Investment Company Act of 1940, could result in investigations, sanctions and reputational damage. Our liquid hedge
fund business, and, to a lesser degree, our hybrid hedge fund business, are involved regularly in trading activities
which implicate a broad number of U.S. and foreign securities law regimes, including laws governing trading on
inside information, market manipulation and a broad number of technical trading requirements that implicate
fundamental market regulation policies. Violation of such laws could result in severe restrictions on our activities and
in damage to our reputation.

Some of our private equity funds currently qualify as venture capital operating companies, or VCOC, and therefore
are not subject to the fiduciary requirements of ERISA with respect to their assets. However, it is possible that the
U.S. Department of Labor may amend the relevant regulations or the characteristics of our funds may change. If these
funds fail to qualify as VCOCs or otherwise satisfy the requirements of ERISA, including the requirement of
investment prudence and diversification or the prohibited transaction rules, it could materially interfere with our
activities in relation to these funds or expose us to risks related to our failure to comply with such requirements.

Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations could result in fines, censure, suspensions of personnel or
investing activities or other sanctions, including revocation of our registration as an investment adviser. The
regulations that our businesses are subject to are designed primarily to protect investors in our funds and to ensure the
integrity of the financial markets. They are not designed to protect our Class A shareholders. Even if a sanction
imposed against us or our personnel by a regulator is for a small monetary amount, the adverse publicity related to
such sanction against us by regulators could harm our reputation, result in redemptions by investors from our hedge
funds and impede our ability to raise additional capital or new funds.

As a result of recent highly-publicized financial scandals, investors have exhibited concerns over the integrity of the
U.S. financial markets, and the regulatory environment in which we operate is subject to heightened regulation. In
recent years, there has been debate in both the U.S. and foreign governments about new rules or regulations to be
applicable to hedge funds or other alternative investment products. For example, certain officials in Germany have
called for implementing these types of additional regulations, which, if enacted, could potentially apply to our
business activities throughout the European Union. We may be adversely affected if new or revised legislation or
regulations are enacted, or by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing rules and regulations imposed
by the SEC, other U.S. or foreign governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise
the financial markets. Such changes could place limitations on the type of investor that can invest in alternative asset
funds or on the conditions under which such investors may invest. Further, such changes may limit the scope of
investing activities that may be undertaken by alternative asset managers.

Our results of operations may also be negatively impacted if the recently proposed tax legislation is enacted. If
legislation were to be enacted by the U.S. Congress to treat carried interest as ordinary income rather than as capital
gain for U.S. federal income tax purposes, such legislation would materially increase the amount of taxes that we and
possibly our equityholders are required to pay, thereby reducing the value of our common units and adversely
affecting our ability to recruit, retain and motivate our current and future professionals. See ‘‘— Our structure involves
complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority may be available. Our
structure also is subject to potential legislative, judicial or administrative change and differing interpretations, possibly
on a retroactive basis’’ and ‘‘— Legislation has been introduced that would, if enacted, preclude us from qualifying for
treatment as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes under the publicly traded partnership rules. Our
structure also is subject to potential judicial or administrative change and differing interpretations, possibly on a
retroactive basis. Any such changes could increase our costs of doing business or materially adversely affect our
profitability.’’
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As we have expanded the number and scope of our businesses, we increasingly confront potential conflicts of interest
relating to our funds’ investment activities. Certain of our funds have overlapping
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investment objectives, including funds which have different fee structures, and potential conflicts may arise with
respect to our decisions regarding how to allocate investment opportunities among those funds. For example, a
decision to acquire material non-public information about a company while pursuing an investment opportunity for a
particular fund gives rise to a potential conflict of interest when it results in our having to restrict the ability of other
funds to take any action. In addition, holders of Class A shares may perceive conflicts of interest regarding investment
decisions for funds in which our principals, who have and may continue to make significant personal investments in a
variety of Fortress Funds, are personally invested. Similarly, conflicts of interest may exist or develop regarding
decisions about the allocation of specific investment opportunities between Fortress and the Fortress Funds. In
addition, because the Operating Entities are held, in part, by FIG Corp., which is subject to tax, conflicts of interest
may exist regarding decisions about which of Fortress’s holdings should be held by Operating Entities and which by
Principal Holdings.

Pursuant to the terms of our operating agreement, whenever a potential conflict of interest exists or arises between any
of the principals, one or more directors or their respective affiliates, on the one hand, and the company, any subsidiary
of the company or any member other than a principal, on the other, any resolution or course of action by our board of
directors shall be permitted and deemed approved by all shareholders if the resolution or course of action (i) has been
specifically approved by a majority of the members of a committee composed entirely of two or more independent
directors, or it is deemed approved because it complies with rules or guidelines established by such committee, (ii) has
been approved by a majority of the total votes that may be cast in the election of directors that are held by
disinterested parties, (iii) is on terms no less favorable to the company or shareholders (other than a principal) than
those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or (iv) is fair and reasonable to the company
taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is
possible that potential or perceived conflicts could give rise to investor dissatisfaction or litigation or regulatory
enforcement actions. Appropriately dealing with conflicts of interest is complex and difficult and our reputation could
be damaged if we fail, or appear to fail, to deal appropriately with one or more potential or actual conflicts of interest.
Regulatory scrutiny of, or litigation in connection with, conflicts of interest would have a material adverse effect on
our reputation, which would materially adversely affect our business in a number of ways, including as a result of
redemptions by our investors from our hedge funds, an inability to raise additional funds and a reluctance of
counterparties to do business with us.

Employee misconduct could harm us by impairing our ability to attract and retain investors and by subjecting us to
significant legal liability, regulatory scrutiny and reputational harm.

Our reputation is critical to maintaining and developing relationships with the investors in our funds, potential
investors and third-parties with whom we do business. In recent years, there have been a number of highly-publicized
cases involving fraud, conflicts of interest or other misconduct by individuals in the financial services industry in
general and the hedge fund industry in particular. There is a risk that our employees could engage in misconduct that
adversely affects our business. For example, if an employee were to engage in illegal or suspicious activities (such as
improper trading, disclosure of confidential information or breach of fiduciary duties), we could be subject to
regulatory sanctions and suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial position, investor relationships and ability to
attract future investors. It is not always possible to deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect
and prevent this activity may not be effective in all cases. Misconduct by our employees, or even unsubstantiated
allegations, could result in a material adverse effect on our reputation and our business.

The investment management business is intensely competitive.
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this trend continues, it is possible that it will become increasingly difficult for our funds to raise capital. More
significantly, the allocation of increasing amounts of capital to alternative investment strategies by institutional and
individual investors may lead to a reduction in
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profitable investment opportunities, including by driving prices for investments higher and increasing the difficulty of
achieving targeted returns. In addition, if interest rates were to rise or there were to be a prolonged bull market in
equities, the attractiveness of our funds relative to investments in other investment products could decrease.
Competition is based on a variety of factors, including:

 • 
investment performance; 

 •  investor perception
of investment managers’ drive, focus and alignment of interest; 

 •  quality of service
provided to and duration of relationship with investors; 

 •  business reputation;
and  •  level
of fees and expenses charged for services.

We compete in all aspects of our business with a large number of investment management firms, private equity fund
sponsors, hedge fund sponsors and other financial institutions. A number of factors serve to increase our competitive
risks:

 •  investors
may develop concerns that we will allow a business to grow to the detriment of its performance; 

 •  some of our
competitors have greater capital, a lower cost of capital, lower targeted returns or greater sector or investment strategy
specific expertise than we do, which creates competitive disadvantages with respect to investment opportunities; 

 •  some of our
competitors may have greater technical, marketing and other resources than we possess; 

 •  some of our
competitors may perceive risk differently than we do, which could allow them either to outbid us for investments in
particular sectors or, generally, to consider a wider variety of investments; 

 •  our competitors that
are corporate buyers may be able to achieve synergistic cost savings in respect of an investment, which may provide
them with a competitive advantage in bidding for an investment, particularly if conditions in the debt markets increase
our financing costs; 

 •  some investors may
prefer to invest with an investment manager that is not publicly traded; 

 •  there are relatively
few barriers to entry impeding new private equity and hedge fund management firms, and the successful efforts of
new entrants into our various lines of business, including former ‘‘star’’ portfolio managers at large diversified financial
institutions as well as such institutions themselves, will continue to result in increased competition; and 

 •  other industry
participants continuously seek to recruit our investment professionals, particularly our best and brightest, away from
us.

These and other factors could reduce our earnings and revenues and materially adversely affect our business. In
addition, if we are forced to compete with other alternative asset managers on the basis of price, we may not be able to
maintain our current management and performance fee structures. We have historically competed primarily on the
performance of our funds, and not on the level of our fees relative to those of our competitors. However, there is a risk
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that fees in the alternative investment management industry will decline, without regard to the historical performance
of a manager. Fee reductions on existing or future funds, without corresponding decreases in our cost structure, would
adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

The due diligence process that we undertake in connection with investments by our investment funds may not reveal
all facts that may be relevant in connection with an investment.

Before making investments, we conduct due diligence that we deem reasonable and appropriate based on the facts and
circumstances applicable to each investment. When conducting due diligence, we may be required to evaluate
important and complex business, financial, tax, accounting, environmental and legal issues. Outside consultants, legal
advisors, accountants and investment banks
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may be involved in the due diligence process in varying degrees depending on the type of investment. Nevertheless,
when conducting due diligence and making an assessment regarding an investment, we rely on the resources available
to us, including information provided by the target of the investment and, in some circumstances, third-party
investigations. The due diligence investigation that we will carry out with respect to any investment opportunity may
not reveal or highlight all relevant facts that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity.
Moreover, such an investigation will not necessarily result in the investment being successful.

Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material adverse effect on our business and stock price.

As a public company, we are required to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance
with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. While management has certified that our internal controls over
financial reporting were effective as of December 31, 2007, because internal control over financial reporting is
complex and may be revised over time to adapt to changes in our business, we cannot assure you that our internal
control over financial reporting will be effective in the future. If we are not able to maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting, our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to certify as to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for future required dates (which begin with our fiscal
2008 annual report). Matters impacting our internal controls may cause us to be unable to report our financial
information on a timely basis and thereby subject us to adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions or
investigations by the SEC, or violations of applicable stock exchange listing rules, and result in a breach of the
covenants under our credit agreement. There could also be a negative reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of
investor confidence in us and the reliability of our financial statements. Confidence in the reliability of our financial
statements is also likely to suffer if we or our independent registered public accounting firm reports a material
weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. This could materially adversely affect us and lead to a
decline in our share price and impair our ability to raise capital.

Our organizational documents do not limit our ability to enter into new lines of businesses, and we may enter into new
businesses, make future strategic investments or acquisitions or enter into joint ventures, each of which may result in
additional risks and uncertainties in our business.

We intend, to the extent that market conditions warrant, to grow our business by increasing fee paying assets under
management in existing businesses and creating new investment products. Our organizational documents, however, do
not limit us to the investment management business. Accordingly, we may pursue growth through strategic
investments, acquisitions or joint ventures, which may include entering into new lines of business, such as the
insurance, broker-dealer or financial advisory industries, and which may involve assuming responsibility for the actual
operation of assets or entire companies. In addition, we expect opportunities will arise to acquire other alternative or
traditional asset managers. To the extent we make strategic investments or acquisitions, enter into joint ventures, or
enter into a new line of business, we will face numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks associated with (i) the
required investment of capital and other resources, (ii) the possibility that we have insufficient expertise to engage in
such activities profitably or without incurring inappropriate amounts of risk, and (iii) combining or integrating
operational and management systems and controls. Entry into certain lines of business may subject us to new laws and
regulations with which we are not familiar, or from which we are currently exempt, and may lead to increased
litigation and regulatory risk and negative publicity. If a new business generates insufficient revenues or if we are
unable to efficiently manage our expanded operations, our results of operations will be adversely affected. In the case
of joint ventures, we are subject to additional risks and uncertainties in that we may be dependent upon, and subject to
liability, losses or reputational damage relating to, systems, controls and personnel that are not under our control.
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Our revenue and profitability fluctuate, particularly inasmuch as we cannot predict the timing of realization events in
our private equity business, which may make it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis
and may cause volatility in the price of our Class A shares.

We experience significant variations in revenues and profitability during the year and among years because we are
paid incentive income from certain funds only when investments are realized, rather than periodically on the basis of
increases in the funds’ net asset values. The timing and receipt of incentive income generated by our private equity
funds is event driven and thus highly variable, which contributes to the volatility of our segment revenue, and our
ability to realize incentive income from our private equity funds may be limited. It takes a substantial period of time to
identify attractive investment opportunities, to raise all the funds needed to make an investment and then to realize the
cash value (or other proceeds) of an investment through a sale, public offering, recapitalization or other exit. Even if
an investment proves to be profitable, it may be several years before any profits can be realized in cash (or other
proceeds). We cannot predict when, or if, any realization of investments will occur, and the current challenging
conditions in the financing markets have made it more difficult for potential buyers to finance purchases with
third-party funds on favorable terms, thereby reducing the likelihood of investment realizations at favorable prices in
the near term. If we were to have a realization event in a particular quarter, it may have a significant impact on our
segment revenues and profits for that particular quarter which may not be replicated in subsequent quarters. In
addition, our private equity investments are adjusted for accounting purposes to fair value at the end of each quarter,
resulting in revenue (loss) attributable to our principal investments, even though we receive no cash distributions from
our private equity funds, which could increase the volatility of our quarterly earnings. To the extent that our principal
investments in our private equity funds (or direct investments in private equity transactions) are marked down, such
mark downs will flow through our statements of operations as a GAAP loss, even in circumstances where we have a
long investment horizon and have no present intention of selling the investment.

With respect to our hedge funds, our incentive income is paid annually or quarterly if the net asset value of a fund has
increased for the period. The amount (if any) of the incentive income we earn from our hedge funds depends on the
increase in the net asset value of the funds, which is subject to market volatility. Our liquid hedge funds have
historically experienced significant fluctuations in net asset value from month to month. Certain of our hedge funds
also have ‘‘high water marks’’ whereby we do not earn incentive income for a particular period even though the fund had
positive returns in such period if the fund had greater losses in prior periods. Therefore, if a hedge fund experiences
losses in a period, we will not be able to earn incentive income from that fund until it surpasses the previous high
water mark.

These quarterly fluctuations in our revenues and profits in any of our businesses could lead to significant volatility in
the price of our Class A shares.

An increase in our borrowing costs may adversely affect our earnings and liquidity.

On May 10, 2007, we refinanced our existing credit agreement with a new $1 billion credit agreement. Under the new
credit agreement, we have a $200 million revolving credit facility, a $350 million term loan facility and a $450 million
delayed term loan facility. As of December 31, 2007, we had a $350 million term loan outstanding, $185 million
outstanding under our revolving credit facility (in addition, $11.1 million of letters of credit were outstanding under a
letter of credit subfacility) and no amounts outstanding under our delayed term loan facility. The delayed term loan
facility was subsequently fully drawn in 2008. Borrowings under the credit agreement mature on May 10, 2012. As
our facilities mature, we will be required to either refinance them by entering into new facilities or issuing new debt,
which could result in higher borrowing costs, or issuing equity, which would dilute existing shareholders. We could
also repay them by using cash on hand (if available) or cash from the sale of our assets. No assurance can be given
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all.

Our credit facility loans are typically LIBOR-based floating-rate obligations and the interest expense we incur will
vary with changes in the applicable LIBOR reference rate. As a result, an
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increase in short-term interest rates will increase our interest costs and will reduce the spread between the returns on
our investments and the cost of our borrowings. An increase in interest rates would adversely affect the market value
of any fixed-rate debt investments and/or subject them to prepayment or extension risk, which may adversely affect
our earnings and liquidity.

We have recently participated in large-sized investments, which involve certain complexities and risks that are not
encountered in small- and medium-sized investments.

Our private equity funds have recently participated in several large transactions. The increased size of these
investments involves certain complexities and risks that may not be encountered in small- and medium-sized
investments. For example, larger transactions may be more difficult to finance, and exiting larger deals may present
challenges in many cases. In addition, larger transactions may entail greater scrutiny by regulators, labor unions,
political bodies and other third parties. Recently, labor unions and members of Congress have been more active in
opposing and investigating certain larger investments by private equity firms generally.

Larger transactions may be structured as ‘‘consortium transactions’’ due to the size of the investment and the amount of
capital required to be invested. A consortium transaction involves an equity investment in which two or more private
equity firms serve together or collectively as equity sponsors. We may participate in a meaningful number of
consortium transactions in the future. Consortium transactions generally entail a reduced level of control by Fortress
over the investment because governance rights must be shared with the other private equity investors. Accordingly,
we may not be able to control decisions relating to the investment, including decisions relating to the management and
operation of the company and the timing and nature of any exit, which could result in the risks described in ‘‘— Our
investment funds make investments in companies that we do not control’’.

Any of these factors could increase the risk that our larger investments could be less successful. The consequences to
our investment funds of an unsuccessful larger investment could be more severe given the size of the investment.

Our investment funds often make investments in companies that we do not control.

Investments by most of our investment funds will include debt instruments and equity securities of companies that we
do not control. Such instruments and securities may be acquired by our investment funds through trading activities or
through purchases of securities from the issuer. In addition, our private equity funds may possibly acquire minority
equity interests (particularly in consortium transactions, as described in ‘‘— We have recently participated in large-sized
investments, which involve certain complexities and risks that are not encountered in small- and medium-sized
investments’’) and may also dispose of a portion of their majority equity investments in portfolio companies over time
in a manner that results in the investment funds retaining a minority investment. Those investments will be subject to
the risk that the company in which the investment is made may make business, financial or management decisions
with which we do not agree or that the majority stakeholders or the management of the company may take risks or
otherwise act in a manner that does not serve our interests. If any of the foregoing were to occur, the values of
investments by our investment funds could decrease and our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow
could suffer as a result.

There can be no assurance that we will be successful in developing a market for our investment products in Asia or
that our relationship with Nomura will yield profitable investment opportunities for the funds we manage.

On December 18, 2006, our principals entered into an agreement with Nomura pursuant to which Nomura acquired a
15% stake in Fortress for $888.0 million on January 17, 2007. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the parties
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access to Nomura’s distribution
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capabilities in Asia. In addition, we believe that our relationship will provide us with potential investment
opportunities for the funds we manage. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to develop a strategy
and enter into a mutually satisfactory distribution agreement with Nomura, or that if reached, a market for our
investment products will ever develop in Asia.

Risks Related to Our Funds

Our results of operations are dependent on the performance of our funds. Poor fund performance will result in reduced
revenues, reduced returns on our principal investments in the funds and reduced earnings. Poor performance of our
funds will also make it difficult for us to retain or attract investors to our funds and to grow our business. The
performance of each fund we manage is subject to some or all of the following risks.

The historical performance of our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of
our future results or of any returns expected on our Class A shares.

The historical and potential future returns of the funds we manage are not directly linked to returns on our Class A
shares. Therefore, readers should not conclude that continued positive performance of the funds we manage will
necessarily result in positive returns on our Class A shares. However, poor performance of the funds we manage will
cause a decline in our revenue from such funds, and would therefore have a negative effect on our performance and
the returns on our Class A shares.

Moreover, with respect to the historical performance of our funds:

 •  the
historical performance of our funds should not be considered indicative of the future results that should be expected
from such funds or from any future funds we may raise; 

 •  our private equity
funds’ performance, which is calculated on the basis of net asset value of the funds’ investments, reflect unrealized
gains that may never be realized; 

 •  our private equity
funds’ performance has been positively influenced by a select number of investments that experienced rapid and
substantial increases in value following the initial public offerings of the private equity portfolio companies in which
those investments were made; 

 •  our funds’ returns
have benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that may not repeat themselves, and there
can be no assurance that our current or future funds will be able to avail themselves of profitable investment
opportunities; and 

 •  several of our
private equity portfolio companies have become public companies and have experienced significant subsequent
increases in their public market value. There can be no assurance that we will be able to realize such investments at
their current market prices, particularly if the market perceives that the companies will perform less well when
Fortress reduces its investment in them.

Poor performance of our funds would cause a decline in our revenue and results of operations, may obligate us to
repay incentive income previously paid to us, and would adversely affect our ability to raise capital for future funds.
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Our revenue from the Fortress Funds is derived principally from three sources: (1) management fees, based on the size
of our funds; (2) incentive income, based on the performance of our funds; and (3) investment income from our
investments in the funds, which we refer to as our ‘‘principal investments.’’ In the event that any of our funds perform
poorly, our revenue and results of operations will decline, and it will likely be more difficult for us to raise new
capital. In addition, hedge fund investors may withdraw their investments in our funds, while investors in private
equity funds may decline to invest in future funds we raise, as a result of poor performance of our funds or otherwise.
Furthermore, if, as a result of poor performance of later investments in a private equity fund’s life, the fund does not
achieve total investment returns that exceed a specified investment return threshold for
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the life of the fund, we will be obligated to repay the amount by which incentive income that was previously
distributed to us exceeds the amounts to which we are ultimately entitled. Our investors and potential investors
continually assess our funds’ performance and our ability to raise capital.

Difficult market conditions can adversely affect our funds in many ways, including by reducing the value or
performance of the investments made by our funds and reducing the ability of our funds to raise or deploy capital,
which could materially reduce our revenue and adversely affect results of operations.

If economic conditions are unfavorable, our funds may not perform well, and we may not be able to raise money in
existing or new funds. Our funds are materially affected by conditions in the global financial markets and economic
conditions throughout the world. The global market and economic climate may deteriorate because of many factors
beyond our control, including rising interest rates or inflation, deterioration in the credit and finance markets,
terrorism or political uncertainty. In the event of a market downturn, each of our businesses could be affected in
different ways. Our private equity funds may face reduced opportunities to sell and realize value from their existing
investments, a lack of financing on acceptable terms, and a lack of suitable investments for the funds to make. In
addition, adverse market or economic conditions as well as a slowdown of activities in a particular sector in which
portfolio companies of these funds operate could have an adverse effect on the earnings of those portfolio companies,
and therefore, our earnings.

A general market downturn, or a specific market dislocation, may cause our revenue and results of operations to
decline by causing:

 •  MAUM
to decrease, lowering management fees; 

 •  increases in costs of
financial instruments; 

 •  lower investment
returns, reducing incentive income; 

 •  reduced demand to
purchase assets held by our funds, which would negatively affect the funds ability to realize value from such assets;

 •  material
reductions in the value of our private equity fund investments in portfolio companies which reduce our ‘‘surplus’’ and,
therefore, our ability to realize incentive income from these investments; 

 •  investor
redemptions, resulting in lower fees; and 

 •  decreases in the
value of our principal investments.

Furthermore, while difficult market conditions may increase opportunities to make certain distressed asset
investments, such conditions also increase the risk of default with respect to investments held by our funds with debt
investments, such as the hybrid hedge funds and the Castles. Our liquid hedge funds may also be adversely affected by
difficult market conditions if they fail to predict the adverse effect of such conditions on particular investments,
resulting in a significant reduction in the value of those investments. In addition, the Castles, as well as the publicly
traded portfolio companies owned by our private equity funds, currently pay a material amount of dividends. This
makes their share prices vulnerable to increases in interest rates, which would, by causing declines in the value of the
share prices, in turn result in lower management fees and incentive income for us, as well as potential decreases in the
value of Castle shares and options held as principal investments on our balance sheet.
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Changes in the debt financing markets may negatively impact the ability of our investment funds and their portfolio
companies to obtain attractive financing for their investments, and may increase the cost of such financing if it is
obtained, leading to lower-yielding investments and potentially decreasing our incentive income.

Over the past several months, the markets for debt financing have contracted significantly, particularly in the area of
acquisition financings for private equity and leveraged buyout transactions.
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Large commercial banks, which have traditionally provided such financing, have demanded higher rates, more
restrictive covenants and generally more onerous terms (including posting additional margin) in order to provide such
financing, and in some cases are refusing, or reneging on existing commitments, to provide any financing for
acquisitions which would have been readily financed under credit conditions present for the past several years.

In the event that Fortress private equity funds are unable to obtain committed debt financing for potential acquisitions
(including as a result of a default by our lenders on financing commitments they have provided to us) or can only
obtain debt at an increased rate, this may prevent those funds from completing otherwise profitable acquisitions or
may lower the profit that the funds would otherwise have achieved from such transactions, either of which could lead
to a decrease in the incentive income earned by us. Similarly, the portfolio companies owned by the Fortress private
equity funds regularly utilize the corporate debt markets, particularly the structured finance market, in order to obtain
efficient financing for their operations. To the extent that the current credit markets have rendered such financing
difficult to obtain or more expensive, this may negatively impact the operating performance of those portfolio
companies and therefore the investment returns on our funds.

Our Castles rely on the structured finance and mortgage markets in order to obtain leverage and therefore increase the
yield on substantially all of their investments. To the extent that volatility in those credit markets leads to a situation
where financing of that type is unavailable or limited (as has been the case for Newcastle since mid-2007), our Castles
may be unable to make investments on an accretive basis. This could slow the rate of growth of our fee paying assets
under management in those funds, and cause a commensurate decrease in the rate of growth of our management and
incentive income fees. Furthermore, it could significantly reduce the yield available for reinvesting capital received
from prior investments, thereby reducing profits which would lead to a decrease in the incentive income earned by us.
As a result of impairments recorded in connection with this market disruption, we do not expect to earn incentive
income from one of the Castles for an indeterminate period of time.

Our hedge funds often utilize the structured finance markets in order to obtain leverage and therefore increase the
yield on certain of their investments. To the extent that volatility in those credit markets leads to a situation where
financing of that type is unavailable or limited, our hedge funds may be unable to make certain types of investments as
the yield on those investments will be outside of the funds’ target range without leverage. This could lead to those
hedge funds making fewer overall investments and slowing the rate of growth of the fee paying assets under
management in those funds, and a commensurate decrease in the rate of growth of our management fees.

We and our funds are subject to counterparty default risks.

Our funds enter into numerous types of financing arrangements with a wide array of counterparties around the world,
including loans, hedge contracts, swaps, repurchase agreements and other derivative and non-derivative contracts. The
terms of these contracts are often customized and complex, and many of these arrangements occur in markets or relate
to products that are not subject to regulatory oversight. In particular, some of our funds utilize prime brokerage
arrangements with a relatively limited number of counterparties, which has the effect of concentrating the transaction
volume (and related counterparty default risk) of these funds with these counterparties.

Our funds are subject to the risk that the counterparty to one or more of these contracts defaults, either voluntarily or
involuntarily, on its performance under the contract. Any such default may occur rapidly and without notice to us.
Moreover, if a counterparty defaults, we may be unable to take action to cover our exposure, either because we lack
the contractual ability or because market conditions make it difficult to take effective action. This inability could
occur in times of market stress, which are precisely the times when defaults may be most like to occur.
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financial condition, and as a result, we may not take sufficient action to reduce our risks effectively. Although each of
our funds monitors its credit exposures, default risk may arise from events or circumstances that are difficult to detect,
foresee or evaluate. In addition, concerns
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about, or a default by, one large participant could lead to significant liquidity problems for other participants, which
may in turn expose us to significant losses.

In the event of a counterparty default, particularly a default by a major investment bank, one or more of our funds
could incur material losses, and the resulting market impact of a major counterparty default could harm our business,
results of operation and financial condition. In the event that one of our counterparties becomes insolvent or files for
bankruptcy, our ability to eventually recover any losses suffered as a result of that counterparty’s default may be
limited by the liquidity of the counterparty or the applicable legal regime governing the bankruptcy proceeding.

Because the public company is dependent on receiving cash from our funds, any loss suffered by a fund as a result of
a counterparty default would also affect the results of the public company. In addition, the public company has no
right to influence any fund’s choice of, or the size of a fund’s exposure to, any given counterparty. As a result, the
public company may have concentrated exposure to one or more counterparties (due to the aggregation of
counterparty risk across the underlying fund businesses) and thus be exposed to a heightened risk of loss if that
counterparty defaults.

Investors in our hedge funds may redeem their investments, and investors in our private equity funds may elect to
dissolve the funds, at any time without cause. These events would lead to a decrease in our revenues, which could be
substantial and lead, therefore, to a material adverse effect on our business.

Investors in our hedge funds may generally redeem their investments on an annual or quarterly basis, subject to the
applicable fund’s specific redemption provisions (e.g., a redeeming Drawbridge Special Opportunities Fund investor is
not entitled to cash at the redemption date, but retains instead an interest in the investments as of the redemption date
and receives monies from the fund only as and when such investments are realized). Investors may decide to move
their capital away from us to other investments for any number of reasons in addition to poor investment performance.
Factors that could result in investors leaving our funds include changes in interest rates that make other investments
more attractive, the publicly traded nature of the indirect parent of their manager, changes in investor perception
regarding our focus or alignment of interest, unhappiness with changes in or broadening of a fund’s investment
strategy, changes in our reputation, and departures or changes in responsibilities of key investment professionals. In a
declining financial market, the pace of redemptions and consequent reduction in our fee paying assets under
management could accelerate. The decrease in our revenues that would result from significant redemptions in our
hedge fund business would have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, the investors in our private equity and domestic hedge funds may, subject to certain conditions, act at any
time to accelerate the liquidation date of the fund without cause, resulting in a reduction in management fees we earn
from such funds, and a significant reduction in the amounts of total incentive income we could earn from those funds.
Incentive income could be significantly reduced as a result of our inability to maximize the value of a fund’s
investments in a liquidation. The occurrence of such an event with respect to any of our funds would, in addition to
the significant negative impact on our revenue and earnings, likely result in significant reputational damage as well.

Many of our funds invest in relatively high-risk, illiquid assets that often have significantly leveraged capital
structures, and we may fail to realize any profits from these activities for a considerable period of time or lose some or
all of the principal amount we invest in these activities.

Many of our funds invest in securities that are not publicly traded. In many cases, our funds may be prohibited by
contract or by applicable securities laws from selling such securities for a period of time. Our funds will generally not
be able to sell these securities publicly unless their sale is registered under applicable securities laws, or unless an
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a loss under certain conditions. The ability of many of our funds, particularly our private equity funds, to dispose of
investments is heavily dependent on the public equity markets, inasmuch as our ability to realize any value from an
investment may depend upon our ability to sell equity of the portfolio company in the public equity
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markets through an initial public offering (an ‘‘IPO’’) of the portfolio company in which such investment is held.
Furthermore, large holdings even of publicly traded equity securities can often be disposed of only over a substantial
period of time, exposing the investment returns to risks of downward movement in market prices during the
disposition period.

In addition, many of our funds invest in businesses with capital structures that have significant leverage. The large
amount of borrowing in the leveraged capital structure of such businesses increases the risk of losses due to factors
such as rising interest rates, downturns in the economy or deteriorations in the condition of the investment or its
industry. In the event of defaults under borrowings, the assets being financed would be at risk of foreclosure, and the
fund could lose its entire investment.

Our hedge funds are subject to risks due to potential illiquidity of assets.

Our hedge funds may make investments or hold trading positions in markets that are volatile and which may become
illiquid. Timely divestiture or sale of trading positions can be impaired by decreased trading volume, increased price
volatility, concentrated trading positions, limitations on the ability to transfer positions in highly specialized or
structured transactions to which we may be a party, and changes in industry and government regulations. When a fund
holds a security or position it is vulnerable to price and value fluctuations and may experience losses to the extent the
value of the position decreases and it is unable to timely sell, hedge or transfer the position. Therefore, it may be
impossible or costly for our funds to liquidate positions rapidly, particularly if the relevant market is moving against a
position or in the event of trading halts or daily price movement limits on the market or otherwise. Alternatively, it
may not be possible in certain circumstances for a position to be purchased or sold promptly, particularly if there is
insufficient trading activity in the relevant market or otherwise.

The hedge funds we manage may operate with a substantial degree of leverage. They may borrow, invest in derivative
instruments and purchase securities using borrowed money, so that the positions held by the funds may in aggregate
value exceed the net asset value of the funds. This leverage creates the potential for higher returns, but also increases
the volatility of a fund, including the risk of a total loss of the amount invested.

The risks identified above will be increased if a fund is required to rapidly liquidate positions to meet margin requests,
margin calls or other funding requirements on that position or otherwise. The inability to rapidly sell positions due to a
lack of liquidity has historically been the cause of substantial losses in the hedge fund industry. The ability of
counterparties to force liquidations following losses or a failure to meet a margin call can result in the rapid sale of
highly leveraged positions in declining markets, which would likely subject our hedge funds to substantial losses. We
may fail to adequately predict the liquidity that our hedge funds require to address counterparty requirements due to
falling values of fund investments being financed by such counterparties, which could result not only in losses related
to such investments, but in losses related to the need to liquidate unrelated investments in order to meet the fund’s
obligations. Our hedge funds may incur substantial losses in the event significant capital is invested in highly
leveraged investments or investment strategies. Such losses would result in a decline in MAUM, lead to investor
requests to redeem remaining MAUM, and damage our reputation, each of which would materially and adversely
impact our earnings.

Valuation methodologies for certain assets in our funds can be subject to significant subjectivity and the values of
assets established pursuant to such methodologies may never be realized, which could result in significant losses for
our funds.
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and hybrid hedge funds. The value of the investments of our funds is determined periodically by us based on the fair
value of such investments. The fair value of investments is determined using a number of methodologies described in
the funds’ valuation policies. These policies are based on a number of factors, including the nature of the investment,
the expected cash flows from the investment, bid or ask prices provided by third parties for the investment, the length
of time
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the investment has been held, the trading price of securities (in the case of publicly traded securities), restrictions on
transfer and other recognized valuation methodologies. The methodologies we use in valuing individual investments
are based on a variety of estimates and assumptions specific to the particular investments, and actual results related to
the investment therefore often vary materially as a result of the inaccuracy of such assumptions or estimates. In
addition, because many of the illiquid investments held by our funds are in industries or sectors which are unstable, in
distress, or undergoing some uncertainty, such investments are subject to rapid changes in value caused by sudden
company-specific or industry-wide developments. In addition, in many markets, transaction flow is limited due to
uncertainty about accurate asset valuations, which may cause hedge fund investors to become concerned about
valuations of funds that have illiquid or hard-to-value assets. This concern may lead to increased redemptions by
investors irrespective of the performance of the funds. In addition, uncertainty about asset values on redemptions from
or investments in our hedge funds may lead to an increased risk of litigation by investors over net asset values.

Because there is significant uncertainty in the valuation of, or in the stability of the value of, illiquid investments, the
fair values of such investments as reflected in a fund’s net asset value do not necessarily reflect the prices that would
actually be obtained by us on behalf of the fund when such investments are sold. Realizations at values significantly
lower than the values at which investments have been reflected in fund net asset values would result in losses for the
applicable fund, a decline in asset management fees and the loss of potential incentive income. Also, a situation where
asset values turn out to be materially different than values reflected in fund net asset values will cause investors to lose
confidence in us which would, in turn, result in redemptions from our hedge funds or difficulties in raising additional
private equity funds.

In some cases, the Fortress Funds realize value from an illiquid portfolio company when the portfolio company is able
to sell equity in the public markets through an IPO. An IPO of a portfolio company increases the liquidity of the funds’
investment in the company and can create significant value when the dividend yield on the company’s shares after the
IPO is lower than the return being generated by the company’s net assets, thereby increasing the value of its equity.
Therefore, Fortress values illiquid portfolio companies for which an IPO is being contemplated, or is in process, at fair
value without regard to the theoretical value which may be created by the IPO, and such theoretical value may never
be realized if the IPO is never consummated.

Certain of our funds utilize special situation and distressed debt investment strategies that involve significant risks.

Our private equity and hybrid hedge funds invest in obligors and issuers with weak financial conditions, poor
operating results, substantial financial needs, negative net worth, and/or special competitive problems. These funds
also invest in obligors and issuers that are involved in bankruptcy or reorganization proceedings. In such situations, it
may be difficult to obtain full information as to the exact financial and operating conditions of these obligors and
issuers. Additionally, the fair values of such investments are subject to abrupt and erratic market movements and
significant price volatility if they are publicly traded securities, and are subject to significant uncertainty in general if
they are not publicly traded securities. Furthermore, some of our funds’ distressed investments may not be widely
traded or may have no recognized market. A fund’s exposure to such investments may be substantial in relation to the
market for those investments, and the assets are likely to be illiquid and difficult to sell or transfer. As a result, it may
take a number of years for the fair value of such investments to ultimately reflect their intrinsic value as perceived by
us.

A central feature of our distressed investment strategy is our ability to successfully predict the occurrence of certain
corporate events, such as debt and/or equity offerings, restructurings, reorganizations, mergers, takeover offers and
other transactions. If the corporate event we predict is delayed, changed or never completed, the market price and
value of the applicable fund’s investment could decline sharply.
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circumstances, payments or distributions on certain investments may be reclaimed if any such payment or distribution
is later determined to have been a fraudulent conveyance, a preferential payment or similar transaction under
applicable bankruptcy and insolvency laws. In addition, under certain circumstances, a lender that has inappropriately
exercised control of the management and policies of a debtor may have its claims subordinated or disallowed, or may
be found liable for damages suffered by parties as a result of such actions. In the case where the investment in
securities of troubled companies is made in connection with an attempt to influence a restructuring proposal or plan of
reorganization in bankruptcy, our funds may become involved in substantial litigation.

If our risk management systems for our hedge fund business are ineffective, we may be exposed to material
unanticipated losses.

In our hedge fund business, we continue to refine our risk management techniques, strategies and assessment methods.
However, our risk management techniques and strategies do not fully mitigate the risk exposure of our funds in all
economic or market environments, or against all types of risk, including risks that we might fail to identify or
anticipate. Some of our strategies for managing risk in our funds are based upon our use of historical market behavior
statistics. We apply statistical and other tools to these observations to measure and analyze the risks to which our
funds are exposed. Any failures in our risk management techniques and strategies to accurately quantify such risk
exposure could limit our ability to manage risks in the funds or to seek adequate risk-adjusted returns. In addition, any
risk management failures could cause fund losses to be significantly greater than the historical measures predict.
Further, our mathematical modeling does not take all risks into account. Our more qualitative approach to managing
those risks could prove insufficient, exposing us to material unanticipated losses.

Some of our funds invest in foreign countries and securities of issuers located outside of the United States, which may
involve foreign exchange, political, social and economic uncertainties and risks.

Some of our funds invest a portion of their assets in the equity, debt, loans or other securities of issuers located outside
the U.S. In addition to business uncertainties, such investments may be affected by changes in exchange values as well
as political, social and economic uncertainty affecting a country or region. Many financial markets are not as
developed or as efficient as those in the U.S., and as a result, liquidity may be reduced and price volatility may be
higher. The legal and regulatory environment may also be different, particularly with respect to bankruptcy and
reorganization, and may afford us less protection as a creditor than we may be entitled to under U.S. law. Financial
accounting standards and practices may differ, and there may be less publicly available information in respect of such
companies.

Restrictions imposed or actions taken by foreign governments may adversely impact the value of our fund
investments. Such restrictions or actions could include exchange controls, seizure or nationalization of foreign
deposits and adoption of other governmental restrictions which adversely affect the prices of securities or the ability to
repatriate profits on investments or the capital invested itself. Income received by our funds from sources in some
countries may be reduced by withholding and other taxes. Any such taxes paid by a fund will reduce the net income or
return from such investments. While our funds will take these factors into consideration in making investment
decisions, including when hedging positions, no assurance can be given that the funds will be able to fully avoid these
risks or generate sufficient risk-adjusted returns.

Investments by our hedge funds will frequently rank junior to investments made by others in the same company.

In most cases, the companies in which our investment funds invest will have indebtedness or equity securities, or may
be permitted to incur indebtedness or to issue equity securities, that rank senior to our investment. By their terms, such
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reorganization or bankruptcy of a company in which an investment is made, holders of securities ranking senior to our
investment would typically be entitled to receive payment in full before distributions could be made in respect of our
investment. After repaying senior security holders, the company may not have any remaining assets to use for
repaying amounts owed in respect of our fund’s investment. To the extent that any assets remain, holders of claims that
rank equally with our investment would be entitled to share on an equal and ratable basis in distributions that are made
out of those assets. Also, during periods of financial distress or following an insolvency, the ability of our investment
funds to influence a company’s affairs and to take actions to protect their investments may be substantially less than
that of the senior creditors.

Our hedge fund investments are subject to numerous additional risks.

Our hedge fund investments, including investments by our funds of hedge funds in other hedge funds, are subject to
numerous additional risks, including the following:

 •  Certain of
the funds are newly established funds without any operating history or are managed by management companies or
general partners who do not have a significant track record as an independent manager. 

 •  Generally, there are
few limitations on the execution of our hedge funds’ investment strategies, which are subject to the sole discretion of
the management company or the general partner of such funds. The execution of a particular fund’s strategy — for
example a strategy involving the enforcement of property rights through litigation — may negatively impact one or more
other Fortress funds. 

 •  Hedge funds may
engage in short-selling, which is subject to the theoretically unlimited risk of loss because there is no limit on how
much the price of a security may appreciate before the short position is closed out. A fund may be subject to losses if a
security lender demands return of the lent securities and an alternative lending source cannot be found or if the fund is
otherwise unable to borrow securities that are necessary to hedge its positions. 

 •  Hedge funds are
exposed to the risk that a counterparty will not settle a transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions because
of a dispute over the terms of the contract (whether or not bona fide) or because of a credit or liquidity problem, thus
causing the fund to suffer a loss. Counterparty risk is increased for contracts with longer maturities where events may
intervene to prevent settlement, or where the fund has concentrated its transactions with a single or small group of
counterparties. Generally, hedge funds are not restricted from dealing with any particular counterparty or from
concentrating any or all of their transactions with one counterparty. Moreover, the funds’ internal consideration of the
creditworthiness of their counterparties may prove insufficient. The absence of a regulated market to facilitate
settlement may increase the potential for losses. 

 •  Credit risk may
arise through a default by one of several large institutions that are dependent on one another to meet their liquidity or
operational needs, so that a default by one institution causes a series of defaults by the other institutions. This ‘‘systemic
risk’’ may adversely affect the financial intermediaries (such as clearing agencies, clearing houses, banks, securities
firms and exchanges) with which the hedge funds interact on a daily basis. 

 •  The efficacy of
investment and trading strategies depend largely on the ability to establish and maintain an overall market position in
a combination of financial instruments. A hedge fund’s trading orders may not be executed in a timely and efficient
manner due to various circumstances, including systems failures or human error. In such event, the funds might only
be able to acquire some but not all of the components of the position, or if the overall position were to need
adjustment, the funds might not be able to make such adjustment. As a result, the funds would not be able to achieve
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 •  Hedge fund

investments are subject to risks relating to investments in commodities, futures, options and other derivatives, the
prices of which are highly volatile and may be subject to the theoretically unlimited risk of loss in certain
circumstances, including if the fund writes a call option. Price movements of commodities, futures and options
contracts and payments pursuant to swap agreements are influenced by, among other things, interest rates, changing
supply and demand relationships, trade, fiscal, monetary and exchange control programs and policies of governments
and national and international political and economic events and policies. The value of futures, options and swap
agreements also depends upon the price of the commodities underlying them. In addition, hedge funds’ assets are
subject to the risk of the failure of any of the exchanges on which their positions trade or of their clearinghouses or
counterparties. Most U.S. commodities exchanges limit fluctuations in certain commodity interest prices during a
single day by imposing ‘‘daily price fluctuation limits’’ or ‘‘daily limits,’’ the existence of which may reduce liquidity or
effectively curtail trading in particular markets.

We are subject to risks in using prime brokers and custodians.

The funds in our liquid hedge funds business depend on the services of prime brokers and custodians to carry out
certain securities transactions. In the event of the insolvency of a prime broker and/or custodian, the funds might not
be able to recover equivalent assets in full as they will rank among the prime broker and custodian’s unsecured
creditors in relation to assets which the prime broker or custodian borrows, lends or otherwise uses. In addition, the
funds’ cash held with a prime broker or custodian will not be segregated from the prime broker’s or custodian’s own
cash, and the funds will therefore rank as unsecured creditors in relation to the cash they have deposited.

Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

Control by our principals of the combined voting power of our shares and holding their economic interest through
Fortress Operating Group may give rise to conflicts of interests.

Our principals control a majority of the combined voting power of our Class A and Class B shares. Accordingly, our
principals have the ability to elect all of the members of our board of directors, subject to Nomura’s right to nominate
one designee, and thereby to control our management and affairs. In addition, they are able to determine the outcome
of all matters requiring shareholder approval and are able to cause or prevent a change of control of our company or a
change in the composition of our board of directors, and could preclude any unsolicited acquisition of our company.
The control of voting power by our principals could deprive Class A shareholders of an opportunity to receive a
premium for their Class A shares as part of a sale of our company, and might ultimately affect the market price of the
Class A shares.

In addition, the shareholders agreement among us and the principals provides the principals who are then employed by
the Fortress Operating Group holding shares greater than 50% of the total combined voting power of all shares held by
such principals, so long as the principals and their permitted transferees continue to hold more than 40% of the total
combined voting power of our outstanding Class A and Class B shares, with approval rights over a variety of
significant corporate actions, including:

 •  ten
percent indebtedness: any incurrence of indebtedness, in one transaction or a series of related transactions, by us or
any of our subsidiaries in an amount in excess of approximately 10% of the then existing long-term indebtedness of us
and our subsidiaries; 

 •  ten percent share
issuance: any issuance by us, in any transaction or series of related transactions, of equity or equity-related securities
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10% of the total combined voting power of our outstanding Class A and Class B shares other than (1) pursuant to
transactions solely among us and our wholly-owned subsidiaries, or (2) upon conversion of convertible securities or
upon exercise of warrants or options, which convertible securities, warrants or options are either outstanding on the
date of, or issued in compliance with, the shareholders agreement;
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 •  investment of

$250 million or greater: any equity or debt commitment or investment or series of related equity or debt commitments
or investments in an entity or related group of entities in an amount greater than $250 million; 

 •  new business
requiring investment in excess of $100 million: any entry by us or any of our controlled affiliates into a new line of
business that does not involve investment management and that requires a principal investment in excess of
$100 million; 

 •  the adoption of a
shareholder rights plan; 

 •  any appointment of
a chief executive officer or co-chief executive officer; or 

 •  the termination of
the employment of a principal with us or any of our material subsidiaries without cause.

Furthermore, the principals have certain consent rights with respect to structural changes involving our company.

In addition, our principals are entitled to a majority of our economic returns through their holdings of Fortress
Operating Group units. Because they hold their economic interest in our business directly through Fortress Operating
Group, rather than through the public company, our principals may have conflicting interests with holders of Class A
shares. For example, our principals may have different tax positions from us which could influence their decisions
regarding whether and when to dispose of assets, and whether and when to incur new or refinance existing
indebtedness, especially in light of the existence of the tax receivable agreement. In addition, the structuring of future
transactions may take into consideration the principals’ tax considerations even where no similar benefit would accrue
to us. Moreover, any distribution by the Fortress Operating Group to us to satisfy our tax obligations will result in a
corresponding pro rata distribution to our principals.

We intend to pay regular dividends but our ability to do so may be limited by our holding company structure; we are
dependent on distributions from the Fortress Operating Group to pay dividends, taxes and other expenses. Our ability
to pay dividends is also subject to not defaulting on our credit agreement.

As a holding company, our ability to pay dividends is subject to the ability of our subsidiaries to provide cash to us.
We intend to distribute quarterly dividends to our Class A shareholders. Accordingly, we expect to cause the Fortress
Operating Group to make distributions to its unitholders, including our wholly-owned subsidiaries, pro rata in an
amount sufficient to enable us to pay such dividends to our Class A shareholders; however, no assurance can be given
that such distributions will or can be made. Our board can reduce or eliminate our dividend at any time, in its
discretion. In addition, Fortress Operating Group is required to make minimum tax distributions to its unitholders. See
also ‘‘— Risks Related to Taxation — There can be no assurance that amounts paid as dividends on Class A shares will be
sufficient to cover the tax liability arising from ownership of Class A shares.’’ If Fortress Operating Group has
insufficient funds, we may have to borrow additional funds or sell assets, which could materially adversely affect our
liquidity and financial condition. In addition, Fortress Operating Group’s earnings may be insufficient to enable it to
make required minimum tax distributions to unitholders.

We are also subject to certain contingent repayment obligations that may affect our ability to pay dividends. We earn
incentive income — generally 20% of the profits — from each of our private equity funds based on a percentage of the
profits earned by the fund as a whole, provided that the fund achieves specified performance criteria. We generally
receive, however, our percentage share of the profits on each investment in the fund as it is realized, before it is known
with certainty that the fund as a whole will meet the specified criteria. As a result, the incentive income paid to us as a
particular investment made by the funds is realized is subject to contingent repayment (or ‘‘clawback’’) if, upon
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Moreover, we intend to distribute a portion of the incentive income that we receive as quarterly dividend payments to
our Class A shareholders.  Once we distribute such funds, we have no ability to recall the funds from our Class A
shareholders and would, thus, be required to satisfy any subsequent clawback obligation using other sources. While
the principals have personally guaranteed, subject to certain limitations, this ‘‘clawback’’ obligation, our shareholders
agreement with them contains our agreement to indemnify the principals for all amounts which the principals pay
pursuant to any of these personal guaranties in favor of our private equity funds. Consequently, any requirement to
satisfy a clawback obligation could impair our ability to pay dividends on our Class A shares.

There may also be circumstances under which we are restricted from paying dividends under applicable law or
regulation (for example due to Delaware limited partnership or limited liability company act limitations on making
distributions if liabilities of the entity after the distribution would exceed the value of the entity’s assets). In addition,
under our credit agreement, we are permitted to make cash distributions subject to the following restrictions: (a) no
event of default exists immediately prior to or subsequent to the distribution, (b) the amount of distributions over the
prior 12 months do not exceed free cash flow (as defined in our credit agreement as net income plus (i) taxes,
depreciation and private equity incentive income presented on an as-received basis less (ii) capital expenditures,
permitted tax distributions and certain other adjustments) for the prior 12 month period, and (c) after giving effect to
the distribution, we have cash on hand of not less than accrued but unpaid taxes (based on estimated entity level taxes
due and payable by the Fortress Operating Group entities, primarily New York City unincorporated business tax) and
amortization obligations (including scheduled principal payments) under the credit agreement which are required in
the next 90 days. The events of default under the credit agreement are typical of such agreements and include payment
defaults, failure to comply with credit agreement covenants, cross-defaults to material indebtedness, bankruptcy and
insolvency, change of control, and adverse events with respect to our material funds. Our lenders may also attempt to
exercise their security interests over substantially all of the assets of the Fortress Operating Group upon the occurrence
of an event of default.

The cash reflected on our historical balance sheets for 2006 and earlier periods, which consolidates many of our funds,
is not our cash and is not available to us; we depend on the cash we receive from the Fortress Operating Group.

Our historical combined financial information for 2006 and earlier periods includes significant balances of cash and
restricted cash held at consolidated funds as assets on our balance sheet. Although the cash and other assets of certain
Fortress Funds have historically been included in our assets on a consolidated basis for financial reporting purposes,
such cash is not available to us to pay dividends or for other liquidity needs but rather is property of the relevant fund.
Following changes to our fund documents that became effective on March 31, 2007, these funds are no longer
consolidated, and such cash amounts are no longer included in our balance sheet assets. We depend on distributions
from the Fortress Operating Group for cash. Although the Fortress Operating Group may borrow under our credit
facility, it depends primarily on the management fees and incentive income it receives from the Fortress Funds and its
portion of the distributions made by the Fortress Funds, if any, for cash.

Tax consequences to the principals may give rise to conflicts of interests.

As a result of unrealized built-in gain attributable to the value of our assets held by the Fortress Operating Group
entities at the time of our initial public offering, upon the sale or, refinancing or disposition of the assets owned by the
Fortress Operating Group entities, our principals will incur different and significantly greater tax liabilities as a result
of the disproportionately greater allocations of items of taxable income and gain to the principals upon a realization
event. As the principals will not receive a corresponding greater distribution of cash proceeds, they may, subject to
applicable fiduciary or contractual duties, have different objectives regarding the appropriate pricing, timing and other
material terms of any sale, refinancing, or disposition, or whether to sell such assets at all. Decisions made with
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selling principal under the tax receivable agreement. All other factors being equal, earlier disposition of assets
following a transaction will tend to accelerate such payments and increase the present value of the tax receivable
agreement, and disposition of assets before a transaction will increase a principal’s tax liability without giving rise to
any rights to receive payments under the tax receivable agreement. Decisions made regarding a change of control also
could have a material influence on the timing and amount of payments received by the principals pursuant to the tax
receivable agreement.

We are required to pay our principals for most of the tax benefits we realize as a result of the tax basis step-up we
receive in connection with taxable exchanges by our principals of units held in the Fortress Operating Group entities
or our acquisitions of units from our principals.

At any time and from time to time, each principal has the right to exchange his Fortress Operating Group units for our
Class A shares in a taxable transaction. These taxable exchanges, as well as our acquisitions of units from our
principals, may result in increases in the tax depreciation and amortization deductions, as well as an increase in the tax
basis of other assets, of the Fortress Operating Group that otherwise would not have been available. These increases in
tax depreciation and amortization deductions, as well as the tax basis of other assets, may reduce the amount of tax
that FIG Corp. or FIG Asset Co. LLC and any other corporate taxpayers would otherwise be required to pay in the
future, although the IRS may challenge all or part of increased deductions and tax basis increase, and a court could
sustain such a challenge.

We have entered into a tax receivable agreement with our principals that provides for the payment by the corporate
taxpayers to our principals of 85% of the amount of tax savings, if any, that the corporate taxpayers actually realize (or
are deemed to realize in the case of an early termination payment by the corporate taxpayers or a change of control, as
discussed below) as a result of these increases in tax deductions and tax basis of the Fortress Operating Group. The
payments that the corporate taxpayers may make to our principals could be material in amount.

Although we are not aware of any issue that would cause the IRS to challenge a tax basis increase, our principals will
not reimburse the corporate taxpayers for any payments that have been previously made under the tax receivable
agreement. As a result, in certain circumstances, payments could be made to our principals under the tax receivable
agreement in excess of the corporate taxpayers’ cash tax savings. The corporate taxpayers’ ability to achieve benefits
from any tax basis increase, and the payments to be made under this agreement, will depend upon a number of factors,
including the timing and amount of our future income.

In addition, the tax receivable agreement provides that, upon a merger, asset sale or other form of business
combination or certain other changes of control, the corporate taxpayers’ (or their successors’) obligations with respect
to exchanged or acquired units (whether exchanged or acquired before or after such change of control) would be based
on certain assumptions, including that the corporate taxpayers would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the
deductions arising from the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits related to entering into the tax
receivable agreement.

If we were deemed an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, applicable restrictions could
make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our
business and the price of our Class A shares.

We do not believe that we are an ‘‘investment company’’ under the Investment Company Act of 1940 because the nature
of our assets and the sources of our income exclude us from the definition of an investment company pursuant to Rule
3a-1 under the Investment Company Act of 1940. In addition, we believe the company is not an investment company
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U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis. We intend to conduct our operations so that
we will not be deemed an investment company. However, if we were to be deemed an investment company,
restrictions imposed by the Investment Company Act of 1940, including limitations on our capital structure and our
ability to transact with affiliates, could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and would
have a material adverse effect on our business and the price of our Class A shares.

Risks Related To Our Class A Shares

An active market for our Class A shares may not be sustained.

Our Class A shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol ‘‘FIG.’’ However, we cannot provide
any assurance that a regular trading market of our Class A shares will be sustained on that exchange or elsewhere.
Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurance of the liquidity of any trading market, holders’ ability to sell their Class
A shares when desired, or at all, or the prices that they may obtain for their Class A shares.

The market price and trading volume of our Class A shares may be volatile, which could result in rapid and substantial
losses for our shareholders.

The market price of our Class A shares may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations. In addition,
the trading volume in our Class A shares may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur, which may
limit or prevent investors from readily selling their Class A shares and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of
our Class A shares. If the market price of our Class A shares declines significantly, holders may be unable to resell
their Class A shares at or above their purchase price, if at all. We cannot provide any assurance that the market price
of our Class A shares will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future. Some of the factors that could negatively
affect the price of our Class A shares or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our Class A shares
include:

 •  variations
in our quarterly operating results or dividends; 

 •  failure to meet
analysts’ earnings estimates or failure to meet, or the lowering of, our own earnings guidance; 

 •  publication of
research reports about us or the investment management industry or the failure of securities analysts to cover our
Class A shares; 

 •  additions or
departures of our principals and other key management personnel; 

 •  adverse market
reaction to any indebtedness we may incur or securities we may issue in the future; 

 •  actions by
shareholders; 

 •  changes in market
valuations of similar companies; 

 •  speculation in the
press or investment community; 

 •  changes or
proposed changes in laws or regulations or differing interpretations thereof affecting our business or enforcement of
these laws and regulations, or announcements relating to these matters; 
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 •  litigation or
governmental investigations; 

 •  fluctuations in the
performance or share price of other alternative asset managers; 

 •  adverse publicity
about the asset management industry generally or individual scandals, specifically; and 

 •  general market and
economic conditions.

In addition, when the market price of a stock has been volatile in the past, holders of that stock have, at times,
instituted securities class action litigation against the issuer of the stock. If any of our
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shareholders brought a lawsuit against us, we may be required to incur substantial costs defending any such suit, even
those without merit. Such a lawsuit could also divert the time and attention of our management from our business and
lower our Class A share price.

Our Class A share price may decline due to the large number of shares eligible for future sale and for exchange into
Class A shares.

The market price of our Class A shares could decline as a result of sales of a large number of our Class A shares or the
perception that such sales could occur. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it
more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate. As of
December 31, 2007, we had 406,571,900 outstanding Class A shares on a fully diluted basis, 52,534,503 restricted
Class A share units granted to employees (net of forfeitures) and 97,296 restricted Class A shares granted to directors
pursuant to our equity incentive plan, and 62,368,201 Class A shares and Fortress Operating Group units that remain
available for future grant under our equity incentive plan. Beginning in 2008, the Class A shares reserved under our
equity incentive plan will be increased on the first day of each fiscal year during the plan’s term by the lesser of (x) the
excess of (i) 15% of the number of outstanding Class A and Class B shares of the company on the last day of the
immediately preceding fiscal year over (ii) the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under our equity
incentive plan as of such date or (y) 60,000,000 shares. We may issue and sell in the future additional Class A shares
or any securities issuable upon conversion of, or exchange or exercise for, Class A shares (including Fortress
Operating Group units) at any time.

Our principals own an aggregate of 312,071,550 Fortress Operating Group units. Each principal has the right to
exchange each of his Fortress Operating Group units for one of our Class A shares at any time, subject to the
Principals Agreement. These Class A shares and Fortress Operating Group units are eligible for resale from time to
time, subject to certain contractual restrictions and Securities Act limitations.

Our principals and Nomura are parties to shareholders agreements with us. The principals have the ability to cause us
to register the Class A shares they acquire upon exchange for their Fortress Operating Group units. Nomura has the
ability to cause us to register any of its 55,071,450 Class A shares.

Our principals’ beneficial ownership of Class B shares and anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and
Delaware law could delay or prevent a change in control.

Our principals beneficially own all of our Class B shares. The principals’ Class B shares will represent a majority of
the total combined voting power of our outstanding Class A and Class B shares. As a result, if they vote all of their
shares in the same manner, they will be able to exercise control over all matters requiring the approval of shareholders
and will be able to prevent a change in control of our company. In addition, provisions in our operating agreement
may make it more difficult and expensive for a third party to acquire control of us even if a change of control would
be beneficial to the interests of our shareholders. For example, our operating agreement provides for a staggered
board, requires advance notice for proposals by shareholders and nominations, places limitations on convening
shareholder meetings, and authorizes the issuance of preferred shares that could be issued by our board of directors to
thwart a takeover attempt. In addition, certain provisions of Delaware law may delay or prevent a transaction that
could cause a change in our control. The market price of our Class A shares could be adversely affected to the extent
that our principals’ control over us, as well as provisions of our operating agreement, discourage potential takeover
attempts that our shareholders may favor.
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There are certain provisions in our operating agreement regarding exculpation and indemnification of our officers and
directors that differ from the Delaware General Corporation Law (DGCL) in a manner that may be less protective of
the interests of our Class A shareholders.

Our operating agreement provides that to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law our directors or officers will
not be liable to us. However, under the DGCL, a director or officer would be
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liable to us for (i) breach of duty of loyalty to us or our shareholders, (ii) intentional misconduct or knowing violations
of the law that are not done in good faith, (iii) improper redemption of shares or declaration of dividend, or (iv) a
transaction from which the director or officer derived an improper personal benefit. In addition, our operating
agreement provides that we indemnify our directors and officers for acts or omissions to the fullest extent provided by
law. However, under the DGCL, a corporation can only indemnify directors and officers for acts or omissions if the
director or officer acted in good faith, in a manner he reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the corporation,
and, in a criminal action, if the officer or director had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful.
Accordingly, our operating agreement may be less protective of the interests of our Class A shareholders, when
compared to the DGCL, insofar as it relates to the exculpation and indemnification of our officers and directors.

Risks Related to Taxation

Class A shareholders may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on their share of our taxable income, regardless of
whether they receive any cash dividends from us.

So long as we are not required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940 and
90% of our gross income for each taxable year constitutes ‘‘qualifying income’’ within the meaning of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the ‘‘Code’’), on a continuing basis, we will be treated, for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, as a partnership and not as an association or a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation. Class A
shareholders may be subject to U.S. federal, state, local and possibly, in some cases, foreign income taxation on their
allocable share of our items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit (including our allocable share of those items of
any entity in which we invest that is treated as a partnership or is otherwise subject to tax on a flow through basis) for
each of our taxable years ending with or within their taxable year, regardless of whether or not they receive cash
dividends from us. They may not receive cash dividends equal to their allocable share of our net taxable income or
even the tax liability that results from that income. In addition, certain of our holdings, including holdings, if any, in a
Controlled Foreign Corporation (‘‘CFC’’) and a Passive Foreign Investment Company (‘‘PFIC’’), may produce taxable
income prior to the receipt of cash relating to such income, and holders of our Class A shares will be required to take
such income into account in determining their taxable income. Under our operating agreement, in the event of an
inadvertent partnership termination in which the Internal Revenue Service (‘‘IRS’’) has granted us limited relief, each
holder of our Class A shares also is obligated to make such adjustments as are required by the IRS to maintain our
status as a partnership. Such adjustments may require persons who hold our Class A shares to recognize additional
amounts in income during the years in which they hold such shares. We may also be required to make payments to the
IRS.

Our intermediate holding company, FIG Corp., is subject to corporate income taxation in the United States, and we
may be subject to additional taxation in the future.

A significant portion of our investments and activities may be made or conducted through FIG Corp. Dividends paid
by FIG Corp. from time to time will, as is usual in the case of a U.S. corporation, then be included in our income.
Income received as a result of investments made or activities conducted through FIG Asset Co. LLC (but excluding
through its taxable corporate affiliates) is not subject to corporate income taxation in our structure, but we cannot
provide any assurance that it will not become subject to additional taxation in the future, which would negatively
impact our results of operations.

There can be no assurance that amounts paid as dividends on Class A shares will be sufficient to cover the tax liability
arising from ownership of Class A shares.
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possible application of the alternative minimum tax) and, therefore, because of the foregoing as well as other possible
reasons, may not be sufficient to pay their full amount of tax
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based upon their share of our net taxable income. In addition, the actual amount and timing of dividends will always
be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and we cannot provide any assurance that we will in fact pay cash
dividends as currently intended. In particular, the amount and timing of dividends will depend upon a number of
factors, including, among others:

 •  our actual
results of operations and financial condition; 

 •  restrictions imposed
by our operating agreement or applicable law; 

 •  restrictions imposed
by our credit agreements; 

 •  reinvestment of our
capital;  • 
the timing of the investment of our capital; 

 •  the amount of cash
that is generated by our investments or to fund liquidity needs; 

 •  levels of operating
and other expenses; 

 •  contingent
liabilities; or 

 •  factors that our
board of directors deems relevant.

Even if we do not distribute cash in an amount that is sufficient to fund a shareholder’s tax liabilities, they will still be
required to pay income taxes on their share of our taxable income.

Tax gain or loss on disposition of our common units could be more or less than expected.

If a Class A shareholder sells common units, such shareholder will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference
between the amount realized and the adjusted tax basis in those common units. Prior distributions to such common
shareholder in excess of the total net taxable income allocated to such shareholder, which decreased the tax basis in its
common units, will increase the gain recognized upon a sale when the common units are sold at a price greater than
such shareholder’s tax basis in those common units, even if the price is less than the original cost. A portion of the
amount realized, whether or not representing gain, may be ordinary income to such shareholder.

We currently do not intend to make an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code to adjust our asset
basis, so a holder of common units could be allocated more taxable income in respect of those common units prior to
disposition than if such an election were made.

We currently do not intend to make an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code to adjust our asset
basis. If no Section 754 election is made, there will generally be no adjustment to the basis of our assets in connection
with our initial public offering, or upon a subsequent transferee’s acquisition of common units from a prior holder of
such common units, even if the purchase price for those interests or units, as applicable, is greater than the share of the
aggregate tax basis of our assets attributable to those interests or units immediately prior to the acquisition.
Consequently, upon our sale of an asset, gain allocable to a holder of common units could include built-in gain in the
asset existing at the time such holder acquired such units, which built-in gain would otherwise generally be eliminated
if a Section 754 election had been made.

Edgar Filing: Fortress Investment Group LLC - Form 10-K

74



If we are treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the value of the Class A shares would be
adversely affected.

We have not requested, and do not plan to request, a ruling from the IRS on our treatment as a partnership for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, or on any other matter affecting us. As of the date of the consummation of our initial
public offering, under then current law and assuming full compliance with the terms of our operating agreement (and
other relevant documents) and based upon factual statements and representations made by us, our outside counsel
opined, as of that date, that we would be treated as a partnership, and not as an association or a publicly traded
partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. However, opinions of counsel are not
binding upon the IRS or any court, and the IRS may challenge this conclusion and a court may
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sustain such a challenge. The factual representations made by us upon which our outside counsel relied related to our
organization, operation, assets, activities, income, and present and future conduct of our operations. In general, if an
entity that would otherwise be classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes is a ‘‘publicly traded
partnership’’ (as defined in the Code) it will be nonetheless treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, unless the exception described below, and upon which we intend to rely, applies. A publicly traded
partnership will, however, be treated as a partnership, and not as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes,
so long as 90% or more of its gross income for each taxable year constitutes ‘‘qualifying income’’ within the meaning of
the Code and it is not required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940. We
refer to this exception as the ‘‘qualifying income exception.’’

Qualifying income generally includes dividends, interest, capital gains from the sale or other disposition of stocks and
securities and certain other forms of investment income. We expect that our income generally will consist of interest,
dividends, capital gains and other types of qualifying income, including dividends from FIG Corp. and interest on
indebtedness from FIG Corp. No assurance can be given as to the types of income that will be earned in any given
year. If we fail to satisfy the qualifying income exception described above, items of income and deduction would not
pass through to holders of the Class A shares and holders of the Class A shares would be treated for U.S. federal (and
certain state and local) income tax purposes as shareholders in a corporation. In such a case, we would be required to
pay income tax at regular corporate rates on all of our income. In addition, we would likely be liable for state and
local income and/or franchise taxes on all of such income. Dividends to holders of the Class A shares would constitute
ordinary dividend income taxable to such holders to the extent of our earnings and profits, and the payment of these
dividends would not be deductible by us. Taxation of us as a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation could
result in a material adverse effect on our cash flow and the after-tax returns for holders of Class A shares and thus
could result in a substantial reduction in the value of the Class A shares.

Our structure involves complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority
may be available. Our structure also is subject to potential legislative, judicial or administrative change and differing
interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of holders of the Class A shares depends in some instances on determinations
of fact and interpretations of complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or
authority may be available. Readers should be aware that the U.S. federal income tax rules are constantly under
review by persons involved in the legislative process, the IRS, and the U.S. Treasury Department, frequently resulting
in revised interpretations of established concepts, statutory changes, revisions to regulations and other modifications
and interpretations. The IRS pays close attention to the proper application of tax laws to partnerships. The present
U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in the Class A shares may be modified by administrative,
legislative or judicial interpretation at any time, possibly on a retroactive basis, and any such action may affect
investments and commitments previously made. For example, changes to the U.S. federal tax laws and interpretations
thereof could make it more difficult or impossible to meet the qualifying income exception for us to be treated as a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes that is not taxable as a corporation, affect or cause us to change our
investments and commitments, change the character or treatment of portions of our income (including, for instance,
treating carried interest as ordinary fee income rather than capital gain) affect the tax considerations of an investment
in us and adversely affect an investment in our Class A shares.

Our organizational documents and agreements permit the board of directors to modify our operating agreement from
time to time, without the consent of the holders of Class A shares, in order to address certain changes in U.S. federal
income tax regulations, legislation or interpretation. In some circumstances, such revisions could have a material
adverse impact on some or all of the holders of our Class A shares. Moreover, we will apply certain assumptions and
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holders in a manner that reflects such holders’ beneficial ownership of partnership items, taking into account variation
in ownership interests during each taxable year because of trading activity. However, these
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assumptions and conventions may not be in compliance with all aspects of applicable tax requirements. It is possible
that the IRS will assert successfully that the conventions and assumptions used by us do not satisfy the technical
requirements of the Code and/or Treasury regulations and could require that items of income, gain, deductions, loss or
credit, including interest deductions, be adjusted, reallocated, or disallowed, in a manner that adversely affects holders
of the Class A shares.

Legislation has been introduced that would, if enacted, preclude us from qualifying for treatment as a partnership for
U.S. federal income tax purposes under the publicly traded partnership rules. Our structure also is subject to potential
judicial or administrative change and differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis.

On June 14, 2007, legislation was introduced in the Senate that would tax as corporations publicly traded partnerships
that directly or indirectly derive income from investment adviser or asset management services. In addition, the
Chairman and the Ranking Republican Member of the Senate Committee on Finance concurrently issued a press
release stating that they do not believe that proposed public offerings of private equity and hedge fund management
firms are consistent with the intent of the existing rules regarding publicly traded partnerships because the majority of
their income is from the active provision of services to investment funds and limited partner investors in such funds.
As explained in the technical explanation accompanying the proposed legislation:

Under the bill, the exception from corporate treatment for a publicly traded partnership does not apply to any
partnership that, directly or indirectly, has any item of income or gain (including capital gains or dividends), the rights
to which are derived from services provided by any person as an investment adviser, as defined in the Investment
Advisers Act of 1940, or as a person associated with an investment adviser, as defined in that Act. Further, the
exception from corporate treatment does not apply to a partnership that, directly or indirectly, has any item of income
or gain (including capital gains or dividends), the rights to which are derived from asset management services
provided by an investment adviser, a person associated with an investment adviser, or any person related to either, in
connection with the management of assets with respect to which investment adviser services were provided.

If enacted in its proposed form, the transition rules of the proposed legislation would delay the application of these
rules for five years. Legislation also has been introduced that is substantially similar to the proposed legislation
introduced in the Senate that would apply the legislation to us with respect to our 2008 taxable year. In addition,
legislation has been introduced in the House, and passed by the House Ways and Means Committee, that would have
the effect of treating income recognized from ‘‘carried interests’’ as ordinary fee income, thereby effectively causing
such income to be treated as nonqualifying income under the publicly traded partnership rules, which would preclude
us qualifying for treatment as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The proposal did not discuss
transition relief.

If any version of these legislative proposals were to be enacted into law, or if other similar legislation were to be
enacted or any other change in the tax laws, rules, regulations or interpretations were to preclude us from qualifying
for treatment as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes under the publicly traded partnership rules, holders
would be negatively impacted because we would incur a material increase in our tax liability as a public company
from the date any such changes became applicable to us, which could result in a reduction in the value of our Class A
shares.

We cannot match transferors and transferees of common units, and we have therefore adopted certain income tax
accounting positions that may not conform with all aspects of applicable tax requirements. The IRS may challenge
this treatment, which could adversely affect the value of our common units.
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Because we cannot match transferors and transferees of common units, we have adopted depreciation, amortization
and other tax accounting positions that may not conform with all aspects of existing Treasury regulations. A
successful IRS challenge to those positions could adversely affect the amount of tax benefits available to our common
unitholders. It also could affect the timing of these tax benefits or the amount of gain on the sale of common units and
could have a negative impact on the value of our common units or result in audits of and adjustments to our common
unitholders’ tax returns.
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The sale or exchange of 50% or more of our capital and profit interests will result in the termination of our partnership
for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We will be considered to have been terminated for U.S. federal income tax
purposes if there is a sale or exchange of 50% or more of the total interests in our capital and profits within a
12-month period. Our termination would, among other things, result in the closing of our taxable year for all common
unitholders and could result in a deferral of depreciation deductions allowable in computing our taxable income.

FIG Asset Co. LLC may not be able to invest in certain assets, other than through a taxable corporation.

In certain circumstances, FIG Asset Co. LLC or one of its subsidiaries may have an opportunity to invest in certain
assets through an entity that is characterized as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, where the income
of such entity may not be ‘‘qualifying income’’ for purposes of the publicly traded partnership rules. In order to manage
our affairs so that we will meet the qualifying income exception, we may either refrain from investing in such entities
or, alternatively, we may structure our investment through an entity classified as a corporation for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. If the entity were a U.S. corporation, it would be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its operating
income, including any gain recognized on its disposal of its interest in the entity in which the opportunistic investment
has been made, as the case may be, and such income taxes would reduce the return on that investment.

Complying with certain tax-related requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive business or investment
opportunities or enter into acquisitions, borrowings, financings or arrangements we may not have otherwise entered
into.

In order for us to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and not as an association or publicly
traded partnership taxable as a corporation, we must meet the qualifying income exception discussed above on a
continuing basis and we must not be required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company
Act of 1940. In order to effect such treatment we (or our subsidiaries) may be required to invest through foreign or
domestic corporations, forego attractive business or investment opportunities or enter into borrowings or financings
we may not have otherwise entered into. This may adversely affect our ability to operate solely to maximize our cash
flow. Our structure also may impede our ability to engage in certain corporate acquisitive transactions because we
generally intend to hold all of our assets through the Fortress Operating Group. In addition, we may be unable to
participate in certain corporate reorganization transactions that would be tax free to our holders if we were a
corporation. To the extent we hold assets other than through the Fortress Operating Group, we will make appropriate
adjustments to the Fortress Operating Group agreements so that distributions to principals and us would be the same
as if such assets were held at that level.

The IRS could assert that we are engaged in a U.S. trade or business, with the result that some portion of our income
is properly treated as effectively connected income with respect to non-U.S. holders. Moreover, certain REIT
dividends and other stock gains may be treated as effectively connected income with respect to non-U.S. holders.

While we expect that our method of operation will not result in a determination that we are engaged in a U.S. trade or
business, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not assert successfully that we are engaged in a U.S. trade or
business, with the result that some portion of our income is properly treated as effectively connected income with
respect to non-U.S. holders.

Moreover, dividends paid by an investment that we make in a REIT that is attributable to gains from the sale of U.S.
real property interests will, and sales of certain investments in the stock of U.S. corporations owning significant U.S.
real property may, be treated as effectively connected income with respect to non-U.S. holders. To the extent our
income is treated as effectively connected income, non-U.S. holders generally would be subject to withholding tax on
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allocable shares of income effectively connected with such trade or business, and would be subject to U.S. federal
income tax at regular U.S. tax rates on any such income. Non-U.S. holders may also be subject to a 30% branch
profits tax on such income in the hands of non-U.S. holders that are corporations.

An investment in Class A shares will give rise to UBTI to certain tax-exempt holders.

We will not make investments through taxable U.S. corporations solely for the purpose of limiting unrelated business
taxable income, or UBTI, from ‘‘debt-financed’’ property and, thus, an investment in Class A shares will give rise to
UBTI to certain tax-exempt holders. For example, FIG Asset Co. LLC will invest in or hold interests in entities that
are treated as partnerships, or are otherwise subject to tax on a flow-through basis, that will incur indebtedness. FIG
Asset Co. LLC may borrow funds from FIG Corp. or third parties from time to time to make investments. These
investments will give rise to UBTI from ‘‘debt-financed’’ property. However, we expect to manage our activities to avoid
a determination that we are engaged in a trade or business, thereby limiting the amount of UBTI that is realized by
tax-exempt holders of our Class A shares.

We may hold or acquire certain investments through an entity classified as a PFIC or CFC for U.S. federal income tax
purposes.

Certain of our investments may be in foreign corporations or may be acquired through a foreign subsidiary that would
be classified as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Such an entity may be a PFIC or a CFC for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. U.S. holders of Class A shares indirectly owning an interest in a PFIC or a CFC may
experience adverse U.S. tax consequences.

Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments

We have no unresolved staff comments.

Item 2.    Properties.

We and our affiliates have the following leases in place with respect to our headquarters in New York City and global
offices:

 Location 
Lessee  Square
 Footage  Lease
 Expiration  Current
 Annual
 Rent    (thousands) New York  Fortress  168,321  Dec-2016  $ 8,379  Other  Dallas 
Fortress  12,430  Apr-2012  255  Geneva  Fortress Fund  1,420  Aug-2008  60  Frankfurt  Fortress and
Fortress Fund  18,782  May-2011  1,186  Hong Kong  Fortress  4,838  Jun-2009  707  London  Fortress
 19,179  Jun-2011  3,387  New Canaan  Fortress  3,356  Jan-2013  192  San Diego  Fortress  6,207 

Sep-2011  213  Sydney  Fortress  4,058  Dec-2008  300  Tokyo  Fortress  6,575  Jul-2009  1,273 
Toronto  Fortress  8,535  Aug-2010  248  Temporary Space  Fortress and Fortress Fund  6,558  Various 
 298  Disaster Recovery  Fortress  n/a  Dec-2010  1,020  Total Other  91,938  9,139  Total 
260,259  $ 17,518 
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We also have small offices in Los Angeles and Rome that were on a month-to-month basis as of December 31, 2007.

We believe our current facilities are adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional space will be available
as and when needed.

Item 3.    Legal Proceedings.

On September 15, 2005, a lawsuit captioned David T. Atkins et al. v. Apollo Real Estate Advisors, L.P. et al., which
we refer to as the Brookdale Action, was brought in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New
York on behalf of current and former limited partners in certain investing partnerships related to the sale of certain
facilities to Ventas Realty Limited Partnership, or Ventas, an unaffiliated real estate investment trust. It names as
defendants, among others, Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. (one of our portfolio companies, which we refer to as
Brookdale), Brookdale Living Communities, Inc. (a subsidiary of Brookdale, which we refer to as BLC), GFB-AS
Investors, LLC (which we refer to as GFB-AS), a subsidiary of BLC, the general partners of 14 investing partnerships
which are alleged to be subsidiaries of GFB-AS, Fortress, and the Chief Financial Officer of Brookdale at that time.
Fortress was the investment manager of consolidated Fortress Funds which were controlling shareholders of the
private equity portfolio company during the relevant time periods. The suit alleges that the defendants improperly
obtained certain rights with respect to such facilities from the investing partnerships. The plaintiffs’ nine count third
amended complaint alleges, among other things, (i) that the defendants converted for their own use the property of the
limited partners of 11 partnerships, including through the failure to obtain consents the plaintiffs contend were
required for the sale of facilities indirectly owned by those partnerships to Ventas; (ii) that the defendants fraudulently
persuaded the limited partners of three partnerships to give up a valuable property right based upon incomplete, false
and misleading statements in connection with certain consent solicitations; (iii) that certain defendants, not including
the company, committed mail fraud in connection with the sale of facilities indirectly owned by the 14 partnerships at
issue in the Brookdale Action to Ventas; (iv) that certain defendants committed wire fraud in connection with certain
communications with plaintiffs in the Brookdale Action and another investor in a limited partnership; (v) that the
defendants committed substantive violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, or RICO;
(vi) that the defendants conspired to violate RICO; (vii) that GFB-AS and the general partners violated the partnership
agreements of the 14 investing partnerships; (viii) that GFB-AS, the general partners, and Brookdale’s Chief Financial
Officer breached fiduciary duties to the plaintiffs; and (ix) that the defendants were unjustly enriched. The plaintiffs
have asked for damages in excess of $100 million on each of nine counts, as to which Fortress is a defendant on seven
counts, including treble damages with respect to certain counts. Fortress has filed a motion to have itself removed as a
named defendant in this case. Brookdale has filed a motion to dismiss the claims and continues to vigorously defend
this action. Fortress believes that the resolution of this action will not have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operations.

We may from time to time be involved in litigation and claims incidental to the conduct of our business. Our industry
is always subject to scrutiny by government regulators, which could result in litigation related to regulatory
compliance matters. As a result, we maintain insurance policies in amounts and with the coverage and deductibles we
believe are adequate, based on the nature and risks of our business, historical experience and industry standards. We
believe that the cost of defending any pending or future litigation or challenging any pending or future regulatory
compliance matter will not have a material adverse effect on our business. However, increased regulatory scrutiny of
hedge fund trading activities combined with extensive trading in our liquid hedge funds may cause us to re-examine
our beliefs regarding the likelihood that potential investigation and defense-related costs could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

Item 4.    Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
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PART II

 Item 5. 
Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our Class A shares have been listed and are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (‘‘NYSE’’) under the symbol ‘‘FIG’’
since our initial public offering in February 2007. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high,
low and last sale prices in dollars on the NYSE for our Class A shares and the dividends per share we declared with
respect to the periods indicated.

2007  High  Low  Last
Sale  Dividends
Declared January 17 through February 7  N/A  N/A  N/A  $0.0449  February 8 (IPO) through March 31 
$37.00  $23.34  $28.68  $0.1225  Second Quarter  $34.03  $21.90  $23.82  $0.2250  Third Quarter
 $25.06  $16.05  $21.32  $0.2250  Fourth Quarter  $24.73  $14.97  $15.58  $0.2250 

We intend to continue to pay out quarterly dividends on our Class A shares in amounts that reflect management’s view
of our financial performance. However, no assurance can be given that any dividends, whether quarterly or otherwise,
will or can be paid.

On March 24, 2008, the closing price for our Class A shares, as reported on the NYSE, was $11.01. As of
March 24, 2008, there were approximately 14 record holders of our Class A shares. This figure does not reflect the
beneficial ownership of shares held in nominee name, nor does it include holders of our Class B shares, restricted
Class A shares or restricted Class A share units.

Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering

On February 8, 2007, Fortress Investment Group LLC completed an initial public offering of 39,428,900 of its Class
A shares, including those shares sold pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option, at a price of
$18.50 per share. Fortress Investment Group LLC sold all of the shares offered, for which it received net proceeds of
approximately $652.7 million, which is net of the underwriters’ discount of approximately $43.8 million and other
expenses. The Class A shares sold in the offering were registered under the Securities Act on a registration statement
on Form S-1 (No. 333-138514) that was declared effective by the SEC on February 8, 2007. Public trading on the
common stock commenced on February 9, 2007. The managing underwriters for the initial public offering were
Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Lehman Brothers Inc.

Upon consummation of the offering, Fortress Investment Group LLC contributed the net proceeds from the offering to
Fortress Operating Group in exchange for 39,428,900 limited partnership units. Fortress Operating Group applied
these proceeds in accordance with its registration statement as follows: (a) to pay $250 million then outstanding under
the term loan facility of our then existing credit agreement, as required by that credit agreement, (b) to pay $85 million
then outstanding under the revolving credit facility of our then existing credit agreement, (c) to fund $169 million of
commitments to private equity funds, and (d) to fund $149 million of general business purposes, including additional
investments.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
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Since our formation on November 6, 2006, we have issued unregistered securities to a limited number of persons, as
described below. None of these transactions involved any underwriters or any public offerings and we believe that
each of these transactions was exempt from registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act or
Rule 701 of the Securities Act pursuant to compensatory benefit plans and contracts related to compensation as
provided under Rule 701. The recipients of the securities in these transactions represented their intention to acquire
the securities for investment purposes only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution
thereof, and appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates and instruments issued in these transactions.
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Issuance of Class A shares in the Nomura Transaction

On January 17, 2007, we issued an aggregate of 55,071,450 Class A shares to Nomura Investment Managers U.S.A.,
Inc., or Nomura, in connection with a securities purchase agreement entered into on December 18, 2006 between our
principals and Nomura for an aggregate purchase price of $888 million. The issuance of these securities was exempt
from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as transactions by the issuer not involving a public offering.

Issuance of Class B shares

On January 17, 2007, we issued an aggregate of 312,071,550 Class B shares to our principals. The issuance of these
securities was exempt from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as transactions by the issuer not
involving a public offering.

Item 6.    Selected Financial and Operating Data.

The selected historical financial information set forth below as of, and for the years ended, December 31, 2007, 2006,
2005, 2004 and 2003 has been derived from our audited historical consolidated and combined financial statements.

The information below should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7, ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations’’ and the combined financial statements and notes thereto included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In particular, Note 1 to the financial statements describes the deconsolidation of the
Fortress Funds on March 31, 2007, which materially impacts the comparability between years.

 Year Ended December 31,    2007  2006  2005  2004  2003    (in thousands, except share data)
Operating Data  Revenues  Management fees and incentive income
from affiliates and other revenues  $ 926,985  $ 410,815  $ 284,313  $ 128,671  $ 47,557  Interest and
dividend income – investment company holdings  309,030  1,110,489  759,086  222,707  172,759 
1,236,015  1,521,304  1,043,399  351,378  220,316  Expenses  1,787,043  1,117,283  685,229 
198,403  81,627  Other Income (Losses)  Gains (losses) – investment company holdings 
(647,477 )   6,594,029  2,903,978  881,658  123,276  Gains (losses) – other investments  (109,160 )  
173,641  37,181  20,512  9,120  Earnings (losses) from equity method investees  (61,674 )   5,039 
10,465  14,616  4,762  (818,311 )   6,772,709  2,951,624  916,786  137,158  Income (loss)
before deferred incentive income, principals’ and others’ interests in income of consolidated subsidiaries and income
taxes  (1,369,339 )   7,176,730  3,309,794  1,069,761  275,847  Deferred incentive income  307,034 
 (1,066,137 )   (444,567 )   (104,558 )   (17,487 )  Principals’ and others’ interests in (income) loss of
consolidated subsidiaries  996,870  (5,655,184 )   (2,662,926 )   (847,365 )   (216,594 )  Income (loss)
before income taxes  (65,435 )   455,409  202,301  117,838  41,766  Income tax benefit (expense) 
5,632  (12,525 )   (9,625 )   (3,388 )   (1,495 )  Net Income (Loss)  $ (59,803 )   $ 442,884  $ 192,676 
 $ 114,450  $ 40,271  Dividends declared per Class A share  $ 0.8424 
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 Year Ended December 31,    2007  2006  2005  2004  2003    (in thousands, except share data)   
Jan 1
through
Jan 16  Earnings Per Unit – Fortress Operating Group  Net income per
Fortress Operating Group unit  $ 0.36  $ 1.21  $ 0.52  $ 0.31  $ 0.11  Weighted average number of Fortress
Operating Group units outstanding  367,143,000  367,143,000  367,143,000  367,143,000  367,143,000 
 Jan 17

through
Dec 31  Earnings Per Class A Share – Fortress Investment Group  Net
income (loss) per Class A share, basic  $ (2.14 )   Net income (loss) per Class A share, diluted 
$ (2.14 )   Weighted average number of Class A shares outstanding, basic  92,214,827 

 Weighted average number of Class A shares outstanding, diluted  92,214,827 

 As of December 31,    2007  2006  2005  2004  2003 Balance Sheet Data 
Investment company holdings, at fair value  $ —  $ 21,944,596  $ 10,582,109  $ 5,365,309  $ 2,036,107 
Other investments  1,107,919  176,833  451,489  48,444  52,879  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash  100,409  625,205  288,363  179,727  41,661  Total assets  1,989,781  23,682,573 
11,863,938  5,796,733  2,212,564  Debt obligations payable  535,000  3,306,609  2,250,433  928,504

 226,205  Deferred incentive income  173,561  1,648,782  585,864  141,277  36,739  Total liabilities
 1,491,633  5,692,157  3,343,262  1,306,021  339,031  Principals’ and others’ interests in equity of

 consolidated subsidiaries  308,023  17,868,895  8,397,167  4,405,835  1,836,163 
Shareholders’/members’ equity, including accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  190,125  121,521 
123,509  84,877  37,370 
Item 7.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

(tables in thousands except as otherwise indicated and per share data)

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with Fortress Investment Group’s consolidated and combined
financial statements and the related notes (referred to as ‘‘consolidated financial statements’’ or ‘‘historical consolidated
financial statements’’) included within this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the timing of events may
differ significantly from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements due to a number of factors,
including those included in Part I, Item 1A, ‘‘Risk Factors’’ and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

During the first quarter of 2007, we consummated a number of significant transactions, including the Nomura
transaction, the formation transactions, our initial public offering, and the deconsolidation
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of a number of Fortress Funds. The deconsolidation of the Fortress Funds has had significant effects on many of the
items within our financial statements but had no net effect on net income or equity. Since the deconsolidation did not
occur until March 31, 2007, the statement of operations and the statement of cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2007 are presented including these funds on a consolidated basis for the period prior to deconsolidation.
The pro forma effects of the deconsolidation on these financial statements are described in Note 13 to Part II, Item 8,
‘‘Financial — Pro Forma Financial Information.’’

General

Our Business

Fortress is a leading global alternative asset manager with approximately $33.2 billion in MAUM as of
December 31, 2007. We raise, invest and manage private equity funds and hedge funds. We earn management fees
based on the size of our funds, incentive income based on the performance of our funds, and investment income from
our principal investments in those funds. We invest capital in each of our businesses.

As of December 31, 2007, we managed alternative assets in two core businesses:

Private Equity Funds — a business that manages approximately $16.6 billion of MAUM comprised of two business
segments: (i) funds that primarily make significant, control-oriented investments in North America and Western
Europe, with a focus on acquiring and building asset-based businesses with significant cash flows. We also manage a
family of ‘‘long dated value’’ funds focused on investing in undervalued assets with limited current cash flows and long
investment horizons; and (ii) publicly traded alternative investment vehicles, which we refer to as ‘‘Castles,’’ that invest
primarily in real estate and real estate related debt investments.

Hedge Funds — a business that manages approximately $16.6 billion of MAUM comprised of two business segments;
(i) hybrid hedge funds — which make highly diversified investments globally in assets, opportunistic lending situations
and securities through the capital structure with a value orientation, as well as investment funds managed by external
managers; and (ii) liquid hedge funds — which invest globally in fixed income, currency, equity and commodity markets
and related derivatives to capitalize on imbalances in the financial markets.

Managing Business Performance

We conduct our management and investment business through the following four primary segments: (i) private equity
funds, (ii) Castles (iii) liquid hedge funds, and (iv) hybrid hedge funds. These segments are differentiated based on the
varying investment strategies of the funds we manage in each segment.

The amounts not allocated to a segment consist primarily of interest earned on short-term investments, certain general
and administrative expenses, and all interest incurred with respect to corporate borrowings. Where applicable, portions
of the general and administrative expenses have been allocated between the segments.

Management makes operating decisions and assesses performance with regard to each of our primary segments based
on financial data that is presented without the consolidation of any Fortress Funds. Accordingly, segment data for
these segments is reflected on an unconsolidated basis, even for periods prior to the deconsolidation. Management
also assesses our segments on a Fortress Operating Group and pre-tax basis, and therefore adds back the interests in
consolidated subsidiaries related to Fortress Operating Group units (held by the principals) and income tax expense.
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Management assesses the net performance of each segment based on its ‘‘distributable earnings.’’ Distributable earnings
is not a measure of cash generated by operations which is available for distribution. Rather distributable earnings is a
supplemental measure of the value created during any period which management uses in its determination of its
periodic distributions to its dividend paying
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share and unit holders. Distributable earnings should not be considered as an alternative to cash flow in accordance
with GAAP or as a measure of our liquidity, and is not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash needs
(including dividends and distributions).

We believe that the presentation of distributable earnings enhances a reader’s understanding of the economic operating
performance of our segments. For a more detailed discussion of distributable earnings and how it reconciles to our
GAAP net income (loss), see ‘‘— Results of Operations — Segments Analysis’’ below.

Public Company Surplus

Our private equity funds have sponsored the initial public offerings of six portfolio companies since 2004 and have
invested in one of the Castles, whose initial public offering was sponsored directly by us. Our funds’ investments
(including those of our hedge funds) in these public companies include net unrealized gains based on their stock prices
as of December 31, 2007. Our shareign:left;font-size:10pt;"> 21
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

Three Months
Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $594 $117

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 245 229
Impairments and (gain)/loss on sale of investments 2 6
Impairments and (gain)/loss on disposal of assets, net (511 ) 1
Share-based compensation 19 17
Provision for bad debts 21 16
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and divestitures:
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (302 ) (359 )
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (178 ) (381 )
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable 559 1,296
Other accrued liabilities and operating items, net (84 ) 239
Net cash provided by operating activities 365 1,181

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired — (6,139 )
Additions to property and equipment (58 ) (67 )
Purchase of available-for-sale securities and other investments (4 ) (3 )
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities and other investments 1 64
Proceeds from divestitures, net of cash sold, and disposal of property and equipment 740 1
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 679 (6,144 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of contingent consideration obligation — (15 )
Net change in short-term borrowings — (6 )
Purchase of noncontrolling interests — (3 )
Reduction of long-term obligations (1 ) (402 )
Net tax proceeds/(withholdings) from share-based compensation (13 ) (18 )
Dividends on common shares (150 ) (150 )
Purchase of treasury shares (600 ) (150 )
Net cash used in financing activities (764 ) (744 )

Effect of exchange rates changes on cash and equivalents 2 9

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and equivalents 282 (5,698 )
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 1,763 6,879
Cash and equivalents at end of period $2,045 $1,181
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
Basis of Presentation
Our condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all majority-owned or controlled
subsidiaries, and all significant intercompany transactions and amounts have been eliminated. Investments in business
entities in which we do not have control, but have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and
financial policies, are accounted for using the equity method. Refer to Note 6 for further information on our equity
method investments.
References to "we," "our," and similar pronouns in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2018 (this "Form 10-Q") refer to Cardinal Health, Inc. and its majority-owned or controlled
subsidiaries unless the context requires otherwise.
Our fiscal year ends on June 30. References to fiscal 2019 and 2018 in these condensed consolidated financial
statements are to the fiscal years ending or ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, respectively.
Our condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission ("SEC") instructions to Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and include the information and
disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP") for interim financial
reporting. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts reported in the condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual amounts may differ from these estimated amounts. In our opinion, all adjustments necessary for a fair
presentation of the condensed consolidated financial statements have been included. Except as disclosed elsewhere in
this Form 10-Q, all such adjustments are of a normal and recurring nature. To conform to the current year
presentation, certain prior year amounts have been reclassified. In addition, financial results presented for this fiscal
2019 interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full fiscal year ending
June 30, 2019. These condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and, accordingly, should be read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes contained in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 (the "2018 Form 10-K").
Recent Financial Accounting Standards
In March 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued amended accounting guidance to codify
SEC staff accounting bulletin 118 (“SAB 118”), which was issued in connection with the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the
“Tax Act”) of December 2017. The guidance allows companies to use provisional estimates to record the effects

of the Tax Act and also provides a measurement period (not to exceed one year from the date of enactment) to
complete the accounting for the impacts of the Tax Act. We adopted this guidance in the second quarter of fiscal 2018
when it was initially issued as SAB 118. We are still completing our accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Act
because all the necessary information is not currently available, prepared or analyzed. As such, we have made
reasonable estimates of the effects of the Tax Act on our financial results. As we complete our analysis of the
accounting for the tax effects of enactment of the Tax Act, we may record additional provisional amounts or
adjustments to provisional amounts as discrete items in the three months ended December 31, 2018. See Note 8 for
additional information regarding income taxes.
In August 2017, the FASB issued accounting guidance which is intended to improve and simplify accounting rules
around hedge accounting. We early adopted this guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 as permitted by the
guidance. The adoption did not have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
In October 2016, the FASB issued amended accounting guidance that requires an entity to recognize the income tax
effect of intercompany sales and transfers of assets other than inventory at the time that the transfer occurs rather than
when the asset is sold to a third party. This amendment became effective for us in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. The
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adoption did not have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued accounting guidance which clarifies the classification of certain cash receipts and
cash payments in the statement of cash flows, including those related to contingent consideration payments made after
a business combination, distributions received from equity method investees, debt prepayment or debt extinguishment
costs and proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims. We adopted this guidance in the first quarter of fiscal
2019. The adoption did not have a material impact on our condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.
In June 2016, the FASB issued amended accounting guidance that will require entities to measure credit losses on
trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities, loans and other instruments using an "expected credit
loss" model that considers historical experience, current conditions and reasonable supportable forecasts. This
guidance also requires that credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities with unrealized losses be recognized as
allowances rather than as deductions in the amortized cost of the securities. This guidance will be effective for us in
the first quarter of fiscal 2021. We are currently evaluating the impact of adoption on our condensed consolidated
financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued amended accounting guidance that requires lessees to recognize most leases on the
balance sheet as a lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset but recognize expenses on their income
statements in a manner similar to today’s
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accounting. The guidance also requires disclosures that meet the objective of enabling financial statement users to
assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. We will adopt this guidance when it is
effective for us in the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and we expect to elect the practical expedient which will allow us to
not apply the amended lease accounting guidance to comparative periods that will be presented. The majority of our
lease spend relates to certain real estate with the remaining lease spend primarily related to equipment. We anticipate
that the adoption of the amended lease guidance will result in an increase to the assets and liabilities on our condensed
consolidated balance sheet, but we are continuing to evaluate the impact of this standard on our condensed
consolidated financial statements and the methods of adoption.
In January 2016, the FASB issued amended accounting guidance intended to improve the recognition and
measurement of financial instruments. The amended guidance primarily changes the accounting for equity
investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option, the method for assessing the realizability of deferred tax
assets related to available-for-sale securities and the presentation and disclosure requirements for financial
instruments. We adopted the amended guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 and are using the net asset value
("NAV") practical expedient for certain fund assets previously accounted for using the equity and cost methods. The
amended accounting guidance did not have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued amended accounting guidance related to revenue recognition which we adopted in the
first quarter of fiscal 2019 using the modified retrospective method and that we applied to customer contracts that
were not completed as of June 30, 2018. This guidance is based on the principle that revenue is recognized in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the transfer of goods or
services to customers. The guidance also requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in
judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract. The FASB also subsequently
issued several amendments to the standard, including clarification on principal versus agent considerations,
performance obligations and licensing, and certain scope improvements and practical expedients.
Our revenue is primarily distribution revenue related to the distribution of pharmaceutical and medical products,
which we recognize at a point in time when title transfers to customers and we have no further obligation to provide
services related to such merchandise.
The adoption of the amended accounting guidance did not have a material impact on our condensed consolidated
financial statements. We did not record any material contract assets, contract liabilities, or deferred contract costs in
our condensed consolidated balance sheets upon adopting the amended accounting guidance.
We elected the practical expedient to expense costs to obtain a contract when incurred when the amortization period
would have been one year or less. Additionally, we have elected the practical

expedients to not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected
length of one year or less, contracts for which we recognize revenue at the amount to which we have the right to
invoice for services performed and for contracts for which the variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly
unsatisfied performance obligation or to a wholly unsatisfied promise to transfer a distinct good or service that forms
part of a single performance obligation. See Note 14 for additional information regarding our revenue recognition.
2. Acquisitions 
Patient Recovery Business
On July 29, 2017, we acquired the Patient Care, Deep Vein Thrombosis, and Nutritional Insufficiency businesses (the
"Patient Recovery Business") from Medtronic plc for $6.1 billion in cash. The acquisition further expands our Medical
segment's portfolio of self-manufactured products.
Transaction and integration costs associated with the acquisition of the Patient Recovery Business were $22 million
and $37 million during the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and are included in
amortization and other acquisition-related costs in the condensed consolidated statements of earnings.
Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed
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The allocation of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the acquisition of the Patient Recovery
Business was finalized during the three months ended September 30, 2018, resulting in goodwill of $3.3 billion. There
were no significant adjustments to the allocation of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the
Patient Recovery Business acquisition from those disclosed in our fiscal 2018 Form 10-K.
3. Restructuring and Employee Severance 
The following table summarizes restructuring and employee severance costs:

Three
months
ended
September
30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Employee-related costs (1) $ 29 $ 4
Facility exit and other costs (2) 3 128
Total restructuring and employee severance $ 32 $132

(1)Employee-related costs primarily consist of termination benefits provided to employees who have beeninvoluntarily terminated.

(2)
Facility exit and other costs primarily consist of product distribution and lease contract termination costs,
accelerated depreciation, equipment relocation costs, project consulting fees and costs associated with restructuring
our delivery of information technology infrastructure services.

In early fiscal 2019, we implemented certain enterprise-wide cost-saving measures, which we expect to reduce our
future operating expenses. As a result, we incurred employee-related severance costs of $26 million, on a pre-tax
basis, which are reflected in restructuring and employee severance in the condensed
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consolidated statements of earnings for the three months ended September 30, 2018.
In fiscal 2018, we entered into an agreement to transition the distribution of our Medical segment's surgeon gloves in
certain international markets from a third-party distribution arrangement to a direct distribution model. The costs
associated with this restructuring included $125 million, on a pre-tax basis, in contract termination costs that were
paid during fiscal 2018. These costs are reflected in restructuring and employee severance in the condensed
consolidated statements of earnings during the three months ended September 30, 2017.
The following table summarizes activity related to liabilities associated with restructuring and employee severance:

(in millions)
Employee-
Related
Costs

Facility
Exit
and
Other
Costs

Total

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 24 $ 4 $28
Additions 26 2 28
Payments and other adjustments (5 ) (1 ) (6 )
Balance at September 30, 2018 $ 45 $ 5 $50
4. Divestitures 
In August 2018, we sold our 98 percent ownership interest in naviHealth Holdings, LLC ("naviHealth") to investor
entities controlled by Clayton, Dubilier & Rice in exchange for cash proceeds of $737 million (after adjusting for
certain fees and expenses) and a 44 percent equity interest in a partnership that owns 100 percent of the equity interest
of naviHealth. We also have certain call rights to reacquire naviHealth. Refer to Note 6 for further discussion
regarding this investment.
During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we recognized a pre-tax gain of $508 million related to this
divestiture in impairments and (gain)/loss on disposal of assets in our condensed consolidated statement of earnings.
This gain includes our initial recognition of an equity method investment for $358 million and the derecognition of
redeemable noncontrolling interests of $12 million. The tax expense as a result of this transaction will be
approximately $130 million. We determined that the sale of the naviHealth business does not meet the criteria to be
classified as discontinued operations. The naviHealth business operated within our Medical segment.

5. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
Goodwill
The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment and in total:
(in millions) Pharmaceutical Medical Total
Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 2,621 $5,695 $8,316
Goodwill acquired, net of purchase price adjustments — 6 6
Foreign currency translation adjustments and other — (3 ) (3 )
Balance at September 30, 2018 $ 2,621 $5,698 $8,319
Other Intangible Assets
The following tables summarize other intangible assets by class at:

September 30, 2018

(in millions) Gross
Intangible

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Intangible

Weighted- Average Remaining Amortization Period
(Years)

Indefinite-life intangibles:
IPR&D, trademarks and other $59 $ — $ 59 N/A
Total indefinite-life intangibles 59 — 59 N/A

Definite-life intangibles:
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Customer relationships 3,512 1,272 2,240 14
Trademarks, trade names and
patents 667 258 409 14

Developed technology and other 1,560 494 1,066 11
Total definite-life intangibles 5,739 2,024 3,715 13
Total other intangible assets $5,798 $ 2,024 $ 3,774 N/A
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June 30, 2018

(in millions) Gross
Intangible

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Intangible

Indefinite-life intangibles:
IPR&D, trademarks and other $62 $ — $ 62
Total indefinite-life intangibles 62 — 62

Definite-life intangibles:
Customer relationships 3,513 1,191 2,322
Trademarks, trade names and patents 667 246 421
Developed technology and other 1,562 454 1,108
Total definite-life intangibles 5,742 1,891 3,851
Total other intangible assets $5,804 $ 1,891 $ 3,913
Total amortization of intangible assets was $133 million and $135 million for the three months ended September 30,
2018 and 2017, respectively. Estimated annual amortization of intangible assets for the remainder of fiscal 2019
through 2023 is as follows: $396 million, $501 million, $433 million, $398 million, and $349 million.
6. Investments 
Investments in non-marketable equity securities are accounted for under the fair value, equity or net asset value
method of accounting and are included in investments in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. For equity
securities without a readily determinable fair value, we use the fair value measurement alternative and measure the
securities at cost less impairment, if any, including adjustments for observable price changes in orderly transactions
for an identical or similar investment of the same issuer. For investments in which we can exercise significant
influence but do not control, we use the equity method of accounting. Our share of the earnings and losses are
recorded in other income, net in the condensed consolidated statements of earnings. We closely monitor our
investments for other-than-temporary impairment by considering factors such as the operating performance of the
investment and current economic and market conditions.
In connection with the naviHealth divestiture discussed in Note 4, we obtained a 44 percent equity interest in a
partnership that owns 100 percent of the equity interest of naviHealth. We accounted for this investment initially at its
fair value using Level 3 unobservable inputs based on expected sales proceeds following a competitive bidding
process. Accordingly, we initially recognized a $358 million equity method investment during the three months ended
September 30, 2018.
We are accounting for this investment using the equity method of accounting and on a one-month reporting lag. Our
proportionate share of naviHealth's net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was immaterial. Our
proportionate share includes only one month of naviHealth's results due to the divestiture occurring in August and as a
result of the one-month reporting lag. During the three months ended September 30, 2018 we received a non-cash
distribution of $14 million in the form of the partnership's payment for certain of our divestiture transaction costs
directly to the

applicable third-party. At September 30, 2018 the carrying value of this investment was $344 million.
7. Long-Term Obligations and Other Short-Term Borrowings 
Long-Term Debt
We had total long term obligations, including the current portion and other short-term borrowings, of $9.0 billion at
both September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018. All the notes represent unsecured obligations of Cardinal Health, Inc. and
rank equally in right of payment with all of our existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.
Interest is paid pursuant to the terms of the obligations. These notes are effectively subordinated to the liabilities of
our subsidiaries, including trade payables of $20.2 billion.
Other Financing Arrangements
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In addition to cash and equivalents and operating cash flow, other sources of liquidity include a $2.0
billion commercial paper program backed by a $2.0 billion revolving credit facility. We also have a $1.0
billion committed receivables sales facility.
In November 2016, we renewed our committed receivables sales facility program through Cardinal Health Funding,
LLC (“CHF”) through November 1, 2019. CHF was organized for the sole purpose of buying receivables and selling
undivided interests in those receivables to third-party purchasers. Although consolidated with Cardinal Health, Inc. in
accordance with GAAP, CHF is a separate legal entity from Cardinal Health, Inc. and from our subsidiary that sells
receivables to CHF. CHF is designed to be a special purpose, bankruptcy-remote entity whose assets are available
solely to satisfy the claims of its creditors.
Our revolving credit facility and committed receivables sales facility require us to maintain, as of September 30, 2018,
a consolidated leverage ratio of no more than 3.75-to-1. As of September 30, 2018, we were in compliance with our
financial covenants. On November 6, 2018, we increased the maximum consolidated leverage ratio permitted under
our revolving credit and committed receivables facilities prospectively to provide that, as of the end of any calendar
quarter, our maximum consolidated leverage ratio may be no more than 4.25-to-1. The maximum ratio will reduce to
4.00-to-1 in September 2019, to 3.75-to-1 in March 2020 and to 3.25-to-1 in September 2020. 
8. Income Taxes 
Fluctuations in our provision for income taxes as a percentage of pretax earnings (“effective tax rate”) are due to
changes in international and U.S. state effective tax rates resulting from our business mix and discrete items.
U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
On December 22, 2017, the United States enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The Tax Act made broad
and complex changes to the U.S. tax code that affected fiscal 2018 and will incrementally affect our fiscal year 2019
financial results in several ways. First, the U.S. statutory tax rate in fiscal 2019 is reduced to 21 percent. Second, the
Tax Act established new tax provisions that affected us beginning July 1, 2018 including, (1) eliminating the U.S.

Cardinal Health | Q1 Fiscal 2019 Form 10-Q 26

Edgar Filing: Fortress Investment Group LLC - Form 10-K

102



Notes to Financial Statements

manufacturing deduction; (2) establishing new limitations on deductible interest expense and certain executive
compensation; (3) eliminating the corporate alternative minimum tax; (4) creating the base erosion anti-abuse tax; (5)
creating a new provision designed to tax global intangible low-tax income (“GILTI”); (6) generally eliminating U.S.
federal income taxes on dividends from foreign subsidiaries; and (7) changing rules related to uses and limitations of
net operating loss carryforwards created in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017.
Regarding the new GILTI tax rules, we are allowed to make an accounting policy election to either (1) treat taxes due
on future GILTI exclusions in U.S. taxable income as a current period expense when incurred or (2) reflect such
portion of the future GILTI exclusions in U.S. taxable income that relate to existing basis differences in our
measurement of deferred taxes. Our analysis of the new GILTI rules and how they may impact us is incomplete.
Accordingly, we have not made a policy election regarding the treatment of the GILTI tax.
In fiscal 2018 we recorded provisional estimates for the remeasurement of our deferred tax assets and liabilities and
the amount of the repatriation tax on undistributed foreign earnings. We did not adjust these provisional amounts
during the three months ended September 30, 2018, but we did provide estimates for other provisions of the Tax Act
beginning July 1, 2018. We intend to update and finalize our provisional estimates by December 2018.
Effective Tax Rate
During the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the effective tax rate was 19.4 percent and 34.2 percent,
respectively. The reduction in the effective tax rate from fiscal 2018 to fiscal 2019 is primarily due to net benefits
from the enactment of the Tax Act and the positive impact of discrete tax items, largely related to international legal
entity changes.
Unrecognized Tax Benefits
We had $423 million of unrecognized tax benefits at September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018. The September 30, 2018
and June 30, 2018 balances include $262 million of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would have an
impact on the effective tax rate.
At September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018, we had $114 million and $110 million, respectively, accrued for the
payment of interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits, which we recognize in the provision for income
taxes in the condensed consolidated statements of earnings. These balances are gross amounts before any tax benefits
and are included in deferred income taxes and other liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
It is reasonably possible that there could be a change in the amount of unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12
months due to activities of the U.S. Internal Revenue Service or other taxing authorities, possible settlement of audit
issues, reassessment of existing unrecognized tax benefits or the expiration of statutes of limitations. We estimate that
the range of the possible change in unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months is between zero and a net
decrease of $30 million, exclusive of penalties and interest.

Other Tax Matters
We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various U.S. state jurisdictions and various foreign
jurisdictions. With few exceptions, we are subject to audit by taxing authorities for fiscal years 2008 through the
current fiscal year.
We are a party to a tax matters agreement with CareFusion Corporation ("CareFusion"), which has been acquired by
Becton, Dickinson and Company. Under the tax matters agreement, CareFusion is obligated to indemnify us for
certain tax exposures and transaction taxes prior to our fiscal 2010 spin-off of CareFusion. The indemnification
receivable was $153 million and $151 million at September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018, respectively, and is included
in other assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
As a result of the acquisition of the Patient Recovery Business, Medtronic plc is obligated to indemnify us for certain
tax exposures and transaction taxes related to periods prior to the acquisition. The indemnification receivable was $21
million at September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018 and is included in other assets in the condensed consolidated balance
sheet.
9. Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and Litigation 
Commitments
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Generic Sourcing Venture with CVS Health Corporation ("CVS Health")
In July 2014, we established Red Oak Sourcing, LLC ("Red Oak Sourcing"), a U.S.-based generic pharmaceutical
sourcing venture with CVS Health for an initial term of 10 years. Red Oak Sourcing negotiates generic
pharmaceutical supply contracts on behalf of its participants. Due to the achievement of predetermined milestones, we
are required to make quarterly payments of $45.6 million to CVS Health for the remainder of the initial term.
New York Opioid Stewardship Act
In April 2018, the State of New York passed a budget which included the Opioid Stewardship Act (the "OSA"). The
OSA created an aggregate $100 million annual assessment on all manufacturers and distributors licensed to sell or
distribute opioids in New York. Each licensed manufacturer and distributor is required to pay a portion of the
assessment based on its ratable share, as determined by the state, of the total morphine milligram equivalents sold or
distributed in New York during the applicable calendar year. The initial payment is due on January 1, 2019 for opioids
sold or distributed during calendar year 2017. The Healthcare Distribution Alliance and other parties have filed
lawsuits challenging the constitutionality of the law and seeking an injunction against its enforcement.
In October, we received notices from the New York Department of Health (the "Department") of our estimated
payment amount for calendar year 2017. The Department noted that it is still validating reported data and the final
amount owed could vary significantly from this estimated payment amount.
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We accrue for contingencies if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. At September 30, 2018, we recorded an aggregate accrual of $34 million for calendar year 2017 and the
first three quarters of calendar year 2018 based on the estimated payment amount. This is our best estimate of the
OSA payments owed at September 30, 2018.
Legal Proceedings
We become involved from time to time in disputes, litigation and regulatory matters.
We may be named from time to time in qui tam actions initiated by private third parties. In such actions, the private
parties purport to act on behalf of federal or state governments, allege that false claims have been submitted for
payment by the government and may receive an award if their claims are successful. After a private party has filed a
qui tam action, the government must investigate the private party's claim and determine whether to intervene in and
take control over the litigation. These actions may remain under seal while the government makes this determination.
If the government declines to intervene, the private party may nonetheless continue to pursue the litigation on his or
her own purporting to act on behalf of the government.
From time to time, we become aware through employees, internal audits or other parties of possible compliance
matters, such as complaints or concerns relating to accounting, internal accounting controls, financial reporting,
auditing, or other ethical matters or relating to compliance with laws such as healthcare fraud and abuse,
anti-corruption or anti-bribery laws. When we become aware of such possible compliance matters, we investigate
internally and take appropriate corrective action. In addition, from time to time, we receive subpoenas or requests for
information from various federal or state agencies relating to our business or to the business of a customer, supplier or
other industry participants. Internal investigations, subpoenas or requests for information could lead to the assertion of
claims or the commencement of legal proceedings against us or result in sanctions.
From time to time, we may determine that products we manufacture or market do not meet our specifications,
regulatory requirements, or published standards. When we or a regulatory agency identify a potential quality or
regulatory issue, we investigate and take appropriate corrective action. Such actions can lead to product recalls, costs
to repair or replace affected products, temporary interruptions in product sales, action by regulators and product
liability claims and lawsuits, including class actions. Even absent an identified regulatory or quality issue or product
recall, we can become subject to product liability claims and lawsuits.
We accrue for contingencies related to disputes, litigation and regulatory matters if it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Because these matters are inherently
unpredictable and unfavorable developments or resolutions can occur, assessing contingencies is highly subjective and
requires judgments about future events. We regularly review contingencies to determine whether our accruals

and related disclosures are adequate. The amount of ultimate loss may differ from these estimates.
We recognize income from the favorable outcome of litigation when we receive the associated cash or assets.
We recognize estimated loss contingencies for certain litigation and regulatory matters and income from favorable
resolution of litigation in litigation (recoveries)/charges in our condensed consolidated statements of earnings.
Opioid Lawsuits
Pharmaceutical wholesale distributors, including us, have been named as defendants in over 1,000 lawsuits relating to
the distribution of prescription opioid pain medications. These lawsuits have been filed in various federal, state, and
other courts by a variety of plaintiffs, primarily counties, municipalities and other political subdivisions from 48
states. Plaintiffs also include state attorneys general, unions and other health and welfare funds, hospital systems and
other healthcare providers. Of these lawsuits, 50 are purported class actions. The lawsuits seek equitable relief and
monetary damages based on a variety of legal theories including various common law claims, such as negligence,
public nuisance, unjust enrichment as well as violations of controlled substance laws and various other statutes. Many
also name pharmaceutical manufacturers, retail pharmacy chains and other entities as defendants.
The vast majority of these lawsuits were filed in U.S. federal court and have been transferred for consolidated pre-trial
proceedings in a Multi-District Litigation proceeding in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Ohio. The court, among other things, ordered that three lawsuits be set for trial in 2019. In connection with these
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proceedings, distributors have engaged in preliminary discussions with various parties, including state attorneys
general, regarding possible resolution structures.
In addition, 39 state attorneys general have formed a multi-state task force to investigate the manufacturing,
distribution, dispensing and prescribing practices of opioid medications. We have received requests related to this
multi-state investigation, as well as civil investigative demands, subpoenas or requests for information from these and
other state attorneys general offices. We are cooperating with the offices conducting these investigations.
We are vigorously defending ourselves in all of these opioid matters. Given the uncertainty surrounding these lawsuits
and investigations and their early stages, we are unable to predict their outcome or estimate a range of reasonably
possible losses.
Product Liability Lawsuits
As of October 30, 2018, we are named as a defendant in 198 product liability lawsuits coordinated in Alameda County
Superior Court in California involving claims by approximately 2,218 plaintiffs that allege personal injuries associated
with the use of Cordis OptEase and TrapEase inferior vena cava (IVC) filter products. Another 19 similar lawsuits
involving claims by approximately 20 plaintiffs are pending in other jurisdictions. These lawsuits seek a variety of
remedies, including unspecified monetary damages. We are vigorously defending ourselves in these lawsuits. 
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At September 30, 2018, we had a total of $268 million, net of estimated insurance recoveries of $10 million, accrued
for losses and legal defense costs related to the Cordis IVC filter lawsuits which are presented on a gross basis in the
condensed consolidated balance sheets. During the three-months ended September 30, 2018, we refined the
methodology used to estimate probable losses and have developed a range of estimated losses. Because no amount
within the range is a better estimate than any other amount within the range, we have accrued the minimum amount in
the range. We estimate the high end of the range to be approximately $459 million, net of estimated insurance
recoveries of $10 million.
10. Fair Value Measurements 
The following tables present the fair values for assets and (liabilities) measured on a recurring basis at:

September 30, 2018
(in millions) Level 1Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Other investments (1) $120 $ — $ —$120
Liabilities:
Forward contracts (2) — (89 ) — (89 )

June 30, 2018
(in millions) Level 1Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents $200 $ — $ —$200
Other investments (1) 117 — — 117
Liabilities:
Forward contracts (2) — (76 ) — (76 )

(1)

The other investments balance includes investments in mutual funds, which are used to offset fluctuations in
deferred compensation liabilities. These mutual funds primarily invest in the equity securities of companies with
large market capitalization and high quality fixed income debt securities. The fair value of these investments is
determined using quoted market prices.

(2) The fair value of interest rate swaps, foreign currency contracts and commodity contracts is determined based on
the present value of expected future cash flows considering the risks involved, including non-performance risk, and
using discount rates appropriate for the respective maturities. Observable Level 2 inputs are used to determine the
present value of expected future cash flows. The fair value of these derivative contracts, which are subject to master
netting arrangements under certain circumstances, is presented on a gross basis in prepaid expenses and other and
deferred income taxes and other liabilities within the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
11. Financial Instruments 
We utilize derivative financial instruments to manage exposure to certain risks related to our ongoing operations. The
primary risks managed through the use of derivative instruments include interest rate risk, currency exchange risk, and
commodity price risk. We do not use derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes. While the majority of
our derivative instruments are designated as hedging instruments, we also enter into derivative instruments that are
designed to hedge a risk, but are not designated as hedging instruments. These derivative instruments are adjusted to
fair value

through earnings at the end of each period. We are exposed to counterparty credit risk on all of our derivative
instruments. Accordingly, we have established and maintain strict counterparty credit guidelines and only enter into
derivative instruments with major financial institutions that are investment grade or better. We do not have significant
exposure to any one counterparty and we believe the risk of loss is remote. Additionally, we do not require collateral
under these agreements.
Interest Rate Risk Management
We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes. Our objective is to manage the impact of interest rate changes
on cash flows and the market value of our borrowings. We utilize a mix of debt maturities along with both fixed-rate
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and variable-rate debt to manage changes in interest rates. In addition, we enter into interest rate swaps to further
manage our exposure to interest rate variations related to our borrowings and to lower our overall borrowing costs.
Currency Exchange Risk Management
We conduct business in several major international currencies and are subject to risks associated with changing
foreign exchange rates. Our objective is to reduce volatility in earnings, cash flow and net investments in certain
subsidiaries to allow management to focus its attention on business operations. Accordingly, we enter into various
contracts that change in value as foreign exchange rates change to protect the value of existing foreign currency assets
and liabilities, commitments and anticipated foreign currency revenue and expenses.
Commodity Price Risk Management
We are exposed to changes in the price of certain commodities. Our objective is to reduce earnings and cash flow
volatility associated with forecasted purchases of these commodities to allow management to focus its attention on
business operations. Accordingly, we enter into derivative contracts when possible to manage the price risk associated
with certain forecasted purchases.
Fair Value Hedges
We enter into pay-floating interest rate swaps to hedge the changes in the fair value of fixed-rate debt resulting from
fluctuations in interest rates. These contracts are designated and qualify as fair value hedges. Accordingly, the gain or
loss recorded on the pay-floating interest rate swaps is directly offset by the change in fair value of the underlying
debt. Both the derivative instrument and the underlying debt are adjusted to market value at the end of each period
with any resulting gain or loss recorded in interest expense, net in the condensed consolidated statements of earnings.
For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, there was no gain or loss recorded to interest expense as
changes in the market value of our derivative instruments offset changes in the market value of the underlying debt.
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Cash Flow Hedges
We enter into derivative instruments to hedge our exposure to changes in cash flows attributable to interest rate,
foreign currency and commodity price fluctuations associated with certain forecasted transactions. These derivative
instruments are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. Accordingly, the gain or loss on the derivative instrument
is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same line item
associated with the forecasted transaction and in the same period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings.
Gains and losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss and reclassified into earnings were immaterial
for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.
All gains and losses currently included within accumulated other comprehensive loss associated with the Company’s
foreign exchange forward contracts to be reclassified into net earnings within the next 12 months are immaterial.
Net Investment Hedges
We hedge the foreign currency risk associated with certain net investment positions in European subsidiaries. To
accomplish this, we enter into cross-currency swaps that are designated as hedges of net investments.
In the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company entered into a €200 million cross-currency swap maturing
in 2023.
Cross-currency swaps designated as net investment hedges are marked-to-market using the current spot exchange rate
as of the end of the period, with gains and losses included in the foreign currency translation component of
accumulated other comprehensive loss until the sale or substantial liquidation of the underlying net investments. To
the extent the cross-currency swaps designated as net investment hedges are not highly effective, changes in carrying
value attributable to the change in spot rates are recorded in earnings. There were no gains or losses from net
investment hedges recorded in other comprehensive income during the quarter ended September 30, 2018. There was
no ineffectiveness in our net investment hedges during the three months ended September 30, 2018.
Economic (Non-Designated) Hedges
We enter into foreign currency contracts to manage our foreign exchange exposure related to sales transactions,
intercompany financing transactions and other balance sheet items subject to revaluation that do not meet the
requirements for hedge accounting treatment. Accordingly, these derivative instruments are adjusted to current market
value at the end of each period through earnings. The gain or loss recorded on these instruments is substantially offset
by the remeasurement adjustment on the foreign currency denominated asset or liability. The settlement of the
derivative instrument and the remeasurement adjustment on the foreign currency denominated asset or liability are
both recorded in other (income)/expense, net. We recorded $1 million expense and $1 million income in the three
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The principal currencies managed through foreign currency
contracts are

the Euro, Canadian dollar, British pound, Japanese yen, and Chinese renminbi.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of cash and equivalents, trade receivables, accounts payable, and other accrued liabilities at
September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018 approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of our long-term obligations and other short-term borrowings
compared to the respective carrying amounts at:

(in millions) September 30,
2018

June 30,
2018

Estimated fair value $ 8,858 $ 8,852
Carrying amount 9,001 9,013
The fair value of our long-term obligations and other short-term borrowings is estimated based on either the quoted
market prices for the same or similar issues or other inputs derived from available market information, which
represents a Level 2 measurement.
12. Shareholders' Equity 

Edgar Filing: Fortress Investment Group LLC - Form 10-K

109



During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we repurchased 9.5 million common shares having an aggregate
cost of $480 million. The average price paid per common share was $50.45. This repurchase was the initial delivery of
shares in a $600 million accelerated share repurchase ("ASR") program, which began on August 16, 2018 and was
completed on October 25, 2018 when we received the final delivery of 2.0 million common shares. The number of
shares ultimately received was based on the volume weighted average price during the term of the ASR program. This
was funded with available cash and short-term borrowings.
During the three months ended September 30, 2017, we repurchased 2.2 million common shares having an aggregate
cost of $150 million. The average price paid per common share was $67.92. We funded the repurchases with available
cash and short-term borrowings.
The common shares repurchased are held in treasury to be used for general corporate purposes.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following table summarizes the changes in the balance of accumulated other comprehensive loss by component
and in total:

(in millions)

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)
on
Derivatives,
net of tax

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ (113 ) $ 21 $ (92 )
Other comprehensive income/(loss), before reclassifications (3 ) — (3 )
Amounts reclassified to earnings — (2 ) (2 )
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax (3 ) (2 ) (5 )
Balance at September 30, 2018 $ (116 ) $ 19 $ (96 )
The sum of components may not equal the total due to rounding.
13. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Cardinal Health, Inc. 
The following table reconciles the number of common shares used to compute basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to Cardinal Health, Inc.:

Three
Months
Ended
September
30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Weighted-average common shares–basic 305 316
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options, restricted share units, and performance share units 1 2
Weighted-average common shares–diluted 306 318
The potentially dilutive employee stock options, restricted share units and performance share units that were
antidilutive for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 were 6 million and 5 million, respectively.
14. Segment Information 
Our operations are principally managed on a products and services basis and are comprised of two operating
segments, which are the same as our reportable segments: Pharmaceutical and Medical. The factors for determining
the reportable segments include the manner in which management evaluates performance for purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance combined with the nature of the individual business activities.
Revenue
Our Pharmaceutical segment distributes branded and generic pharmaceutical, specialty pharmaceutical and
over-the-counter healthcare and consumer products in the United States. This segment also provides services to
pharmaceutical manufacturers and healthcare providers to support the development, marketing, and

distribution of specialty pharmaceutical products; operates nuclear pharmacies and radiopharmaceutical
manufacturing facilities; provides pharmacy management services to hospitals as well as medication therapy
management and patient outcomes services to hospitals, other healthcare providers and payers; and repackages generic
pharmaceuticals and over-the-counter healthcare products.
Our Medical segment manufactures, sources and distributes Cardinal Health branded medical, surgical and laboratory
products, which are sold in the United States, Canada, Europe, Asia and other markets. In addition to distributing
Cardinal Health branded products, this segment also distributes a broad range of national brand products and provides
supply chain services and solutions to hospitals, ambulatory surgery centers, clinical laboratories and other healthcare
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providers in the United States and Canada.
Revenue in both segments is primarily related to the distribution of pharmaceutical and medical products, which we
recognize at a point in time when title transfers to customers and we have no further obligation to provide services
related to such merchandise. Service revenues are recognized over the period that services are provided to the
customer. Revenues derived from services are not material for either segment for all periods presented.
We are generally the principal in a transaction, therefore our revenue is primarily recorded on a gross basis. When we
are a principal in a transaction, we have determined that we control the ability to direct the use of the product or
service prior to transfer to a customer, are primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the product or
service to our customer, have discretion in establishing prices, and ultimately control the transfer of the product or
services provided to the customer.
Revenue is recorded net of sales returns and allowances. Revenues are measured based on the amount of consideration
that we expect to receive, reduced by estimates for return allowances, discounts, rebates and other variable
consideration. Sales returns are recorded based on estimates using historical data. Shipping and handling costs are
primarily included in SG&A expenses in our condensed consolidated statements of earnings and include all delivery
expenses as well as all costs to prepare the product for shipment to the end customer.  Shipping and handling costs
incurred after control has transferred to the customer are treated as fulfillment costs. As of September 30, 2018, assets
recorded for the right to recover products from customers and the associated refund liabilities for return allowances
were not material.
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The following table presents revenue for each reportable segment and Corporate:
Three Months
Ended September
30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Pharmaceutical $31,416 $28,920
Medical 3,801 3,724
Total segment revenue 39,018 32,644
Corporate (1) (4 ) (3 )
Total revenue $35,213 $32,641

(1)Corporate revenue consists of the elimination of inter-segment revenue and other revenue not allocated to thesegments.
The following table presents disaggregated revenue within our two reportable segments:

Three
Months
Ended
September
30,

(in millions) 2018
Pharmaceutical distribution and specialty $ 31,209
Nuclear Precision Health Services (1) 207
Pharmaceutical segment revenue 31,416
Medical distribution and products (2) 3,380
Cardinal Health At Home 421
Medical segment revenue 3,801
  Total segment revenue 39,018
Corporate (3) (4 )
Total revenue $ 35,213

(1)Our Nuclear Precision Health Services division was formerly referred to as our Nuclear Pharmacy Servicesdivision.
(2)Comprised of all Medical segment businesses except for Cardinal Health At Home division.

(3)Corporate revenue consists of the elimination of inter-segment revenue and other revenue not allocated to thesegments.
The following table presents revenue by geographic area:

Three
Months
Ended
September
30,

(in millions) 2018
United States $ 38,046
International 972
  Total segment revenue 39,018
Corporate (1) (4 )
Total revenue $ 35,213
(1)
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Corporate revenue consists of the elimination of inter-segment revenue and other revenue not allocated to the
segments.

Segment Profit
We evaluate segment performance based on segment profit, among other measures. Segment profit is segment
revenue, less segment cost of products sold, less segment distribution, selling, general and administrative ("SG&A")
expenses. Segment SG&A expenses

include share-based compensation expense as well as allocated corporate expenses for shared functions, including
corporate management, corporate finance, financial, and customer care shared services, human resources, information
technology, and legal and compliance, which are allocated to the segments based on headcount, level of benefit
provided and other ratable allocation methodologies. The results attributable to noncontrolling interests are recorded
within segment profit.
We do not allocate the following items to our segments: last-in first-out, or ("LIFO"), inventory charges/(credits);
restructuring and employee severance; amortization and other acquisition-related costs; impairments and (gain)/loss
on disposal of assets; litigation (recoveries)/charges, net; state opioid assessment related to prior fiscal years; other
income, net; interest expense, net; loss on extinguishment of debt; and provision for/(benefit from) income taxes.
In addition, certain investment spending, certain portions of enterprise-wide incentive compensation and other
spending are not allocated to the segments. Investment spending generally includes the first-year spend for certain
projects that require incremental investments in the form of additional operating expenses. Because approval for these
projects is dependent on executive management, we retain these expenses at Corporate. Investment spending within
Corporate was $7 million and $5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
In connection with the naviHealth divestiture discussed in Note 4, we recognized a pre-tax gain of $508 million during
the three months ended September 30, 2018, which was retained at Corporate.
The following table presents segment profit by reportable segment and Corporate:

Three
Months
Ended
September
30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Pharmaceutical $409 $467
Medical 135 129
Total segment profit 544 596
Corporate 272 (334 )
Total operating earnings $816 $262
The following table presents total assets for each reportable segment and Corporate at:

(in millions) September 30,
2018

June 30,
2018

Pharmaceutical$ 21,733 $21,421
Medical 15,670 16,066
Corporate 2,608 2,464
Total assets $ 40,011 $39,951
15. Share-Based Compensation 
We maintain stock incentive plans (collectively, the “Plans”) for the benefit of certain of our officers, directors and
employees.
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The following table provides total share-based compensation expense by type of award:
Three
Months
Ended
September
30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Restricted share unit expense $ 14 $ 18
Employee stock option expense 4 5
Performance share unit expense 1 (6 )
Total share-based compensation $ 19 $ 17
The total tax benefit related to share-based compensation was $5 million and $6 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Restricted Share Units
Restricted share units granted under the Plans generally vest in equal annual installments over three years. Restricted
share units accrue cash dividend equivalents that are payable upon vesting of the awards.
The following table summarizes all transactions related to restricted share units under the Plans:

(in millions, except per share amounts)
Restricted
Share
Units

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share

Nonvested at June 30, 2018 2 $ 71.58
Granted 2 50.28
Vested (1 ) 75.95
Canceled and forfeited — —
Nonvested at September 30, 2018 3 $ 57.60
At September 30, 2018, the total pre-tax compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to nonvested
restricted share units not yet recognized was $123 million, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of two years.
Stock Options
Employee stock options granted under the Plans generally vest in equal annual installments over three years and are
exercisable for ten years from the grant date. All stock options are exercisable at a price equal to the market value of
the common shares underlying the option on the grant date.
The following table summarizes all stock option transactions under the Plans:

(in millions, except per share amounts) StockOptions

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price per
Common Share

Outstanding at June 30, 2018 7 $ 64.50
Granted — —
Exercised — —
Canceled and forfeited — —
Outstanding at September 30, 2018 7 $ 64.36
Exercisable at September 30, 2018 6 $ 62.90

At September 30, 2018, the total pre-tax compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to nonvested stock
options not yet recognized was $4 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of one
year.
The following tables provide additional detail related to stock options:
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(in millions) September 30,
2018

June 30,
2018

Aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options at period end $ 23 $ 13
Aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable options at period end 23 13
(in years) September 30, 2018 June 30, 2018
Weighted-average remaining contractual life of outstanding options 6 7
Weighted-average remaining contractual life of exercisable options 6 5
Performance Share Units
Performance share units vest over a three-year performance period based on achievement of specific performance
goals. Based on the extent to which the targets are achieved, vested shares may range from zero to 200 percent of the
target award amount. Performance share units accrue cash dividend equivalents that are payable upon vesting of the
awards.
The following table summarizes all transactions related to performance share units under the Plans (based on target
award amounts):

(in millions, except per share amounts) PerformanceShare Units

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share

Nonvested at June 30, 2018 0.4 $ 66.13
Granted 0.4 50.25
Vested (1) (0.1 ) 84.27
Canceled and forfeited — —
Nonvested at September 30, 2018 0.6 $ 50.50
The sum of the components may not equal the total due to rounding.
(1) No payout was made because the threshold performance goal was not met.
At September 30, 2018, the total pre-tax compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to nonvested
performance share units not yet recognized was $21 million, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of two years if the performance goals are achieved.
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Exhibits

Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

3.1
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Cardinal Health, Inc., as amended (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Cardinal Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September
30, 2008, File No. 1-11373)

3.2 Cardinal Health, Inc. Restated Code of Regulations (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Cardinal
Health’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 30, 2016, File No. 1-11373)

10.1
Letter Agreement, dated July 17, 2018, between Cardinal Health, Inc. and Patricia B. Morrison (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.12.2 to Cardinal Health's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June
30, 2018, File No. 1-11373)

10.2 Cardinal Health, Inc. Senior Executive Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Cardinal
Health's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 26, 2018, File No. 1-11373)

10.3
Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2018,
by and between Cardinal Health, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., individually and as administrative
agent

10.4 Amendment No. 2 to Seventh Amended and Restated Performance Guaranty, dated as of November 6, 2018,
among Cardinal Health, Inc., Cardinal Health Funding, LLC, and MUFG Bank, Ltd.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.1 Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCHXBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CALXBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
101.LABXBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Cardinal Health Website
Cardinal Health uses its website as a channel of distribution for material company information. Important information,
including news releases, financial information, earnings and analyst presentations, and information about upcoming
presentations and events is routinely posted and accessible at ir.cardinalhealth.com. In addition, the website allows
investors and other interested persons to sign up automatically to receive e-mail alerts when the company posts news
releases, SEC filings and certain other information on its website.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000119312508230011/dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000119312508230011/dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000119312508230011/dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000072137116000243/exhibit32-restatedcodeofre.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000072137116000243/exhibit32-restatedcodeofre.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000072137118000077/a18q410k_063018xexhibit10122.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000072137118000077/a18q410k_063018xexhibit10122.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000072137118000077/a18q410k_063018xexhibit10122.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000072137118000088/exhibit101-seniorexecutive.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/721371/000072137118000088/exhibit101-seniorexecutive.htm
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Additional Information

Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Cardinal Health, Inc.

Date:November 8, 2018 /s/    MICHAEL C. KAUFMANN
Michael C. Kaufmann
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ JORGE M. GOMEZ
Jorge M. Gomez
Chief Financial Officer

Cardinal Health | Q1 Fiscal 2019 Form 10-Q 36

Edgar Filing: Fortress Investment Group LLC - Form 10-K

119


